AGREEMENT FOR IDENTIFICATION OF UNEXPLODED ORDNANCE AND GEOTECHNICAL WORKS IN FORMER CEKULE MILITARY AREA

between

RB Rail AS,

Ministry of Transport of the Republic of Latvia

and

SIA "Intergeo Baltic"

Agreement registration number CEF¹ Agreement No

Procurement procedure identification No

1.19/LV-2021-38
INEA/CEF/TRAN/M2020/2428991
and further grant agreements
RBR 2021/10

Riga 2021

 $^{^{\}rm 1}\,{\rm Grant}$ Agreement under the Connecting Europe Facility

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section I. Definitions and Interpretation	3
Section II. General terms and conditions	4
Section III. Responsibilities of Principal	6
Section IV. Responsibilities of Contractor	7
Section V. Representations and Warranties	12
Section VI. Fee and Payment	13
Section VII. Commencement of Services, remedying of Defects and acceptance	15
Section VIII. Intellectual Property Rights	16
Section IX. Termination and suspension	18
Section X. Liability	21
Section XI. Performance bond	22
Section XII. Force Majeure	23
Secion XIII. Confidentiality	24
Section XIV. Right to Audit	25
Section XV. On-the-spot-visits	25
Section XVI. Governing Law and Resolution of Disputes	26
Section XVII. Responsibilities of the Beneficiary	26
Section XVIII Miscellaneous provisions	26
Annex A: Definitions and common terms	29
Annex B: Technical Specification	32
Annex C: Schedule of Services	47
Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule	48
Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff	49
Annex F: Deed of Acceptance	49
Annex H: Contractor's Proposal	54
Annex I: Representatives	56
Annex J: Performance Bond	57
Annex K: Deed of Commencement	59

This AGREEMENT FOR IDENTIFICATION OF UNEXPLODED ORDNANCE AND GEOTECHNICAL WORKS IN THE FORMER CEKULE MILITARY AREA, together with all Annexes thereto, (the "Agreement") is entered into in Riga, on THE DATE INDICATED ON THE TIMESTAMP OF THE LAST SIGNATURE OF THE DOCUMENT (the "Effective Date") by and between:

RB Rail AS, a joint stock company registered in the Latvian Commercial Register under registration No 40103845025, legal address at Krišjāņa Valdemāra iela 8-7, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia (the "Principal"), represented by Chairperson of the Management Board and acting CEO Agnis Driksna acting on the basis of the Regulation on Representation Rights, dated 17 May 2021,

Ministry of Transport of the Republic of Latvia, registration No 90000088687, registered address at Gogoļa iela 3, Riga, LV-1050, Latvia (the "Beneficiary"), represented by RB Rail AS, a joint stock company registered in the Latvian Commercial Register registration No 40103845025, legal address at Krišjāņa Valdemāra iela 8-7, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia, on the basis of Clause 3.2.2.(e) and 3.3.1 of the Agreement on Contracting Scheme for the Rail Balitc / Rail Baltica, in effect as of 30 September 2016, on the one side,

and

SIA "Intergeo Baltic", a limited liability company registered in the Latvian Commercial Register under registration number with 40103884728, having its registered address at Katrinas dambis 14-302, Riga, LV-1045 (the "Contractor"), represented by Edgars Klievēns acting on the basis of Commercial Power of Attorney No P/1-2021, dated 11 February 2021, the other side,

WHEREAS:

- (A) this Agreement is entered into under the Global Project which includes all activities undertaken by the respective beneficiaries and implementing bodies of the Republic of Estonia, the Republic of Latvia and the Republic of Lithuania in order to build, render operational and commercialise the Rail Baltica railway a new fast conventional double track electrified railway line according TSI INF P2-F1 criteria and European standard gauge (1435mm) on the route from Tallinn through Pärnu-Riga-Panevėžys-Kaunas to Lithuanian-Polish border, with the connection of Kaunas Vilnius, and related railway infrastructure in accordance with the agreed route, technical parameters and time schedule;
- (B) the Principal is acting as a Central Purchasing Body for the Beneficiary;
- (C) the Principal has organised procurement procedure "IDENTIFICATION OF UNEXPLODED ORDNANCE AND GEOTECHNICAL IWORKS IN THE FORMER CEKULE MILITARY AREA" (identification No RBR 2021/10) (the "Procurement Procedure") whereby the Contractor's tender proposal (the "Contractor's Proposal") was selected as the winning bid;
- (D) this Agreement is co-financed from the Connecting Europe Facility (CEF), CEF Contract INEA/CEF/TRAN/ M2020/2428991, activity No 5: "Cekule site study, identification of unexploded ordinance (UXO) in former Cekule military area LV" and further grant agreements.

Section I. Definitions and Interpretation

- 1.1. *Definitions.* In this Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise, all Definitions shall have the meanings as described to such terms in accordance with *Annex A: Definitions and common terms.*
- 1.2. Interpretation.
 - (a) The headings contained in this Agreement shall not be used in its interpretation.
 - (b) References to the singular shall include references in the plural and vice versa, words denoting a gender shall include any other gender where the context requires, and words denoting natural persons shall include any other Persons.
 - (c) References to a treaty, directive, regulation, law or legislative provision shall be construed, at any particular time, as including a reference to any modification, extension or re-enactment of the respective treaty, directive, regulation, law or legislative provision at any time then in force and to all subordinate legislation enacted from time to time.

- (d) Any reference in this Agreement to a Person acting under the direction of another Person shall not include any action that is taken in contravention of any Applicable Law or Standards, unless the relevant Person can demonstrate that an explicit instruction or direction was given to take the relevant action.
- (e) Unless expressly stated to the contrary, any reference in this Agreement to the right of consent, approval or agreement shall be construed such that the relevant consent, approval or agreement shall not be unreasonably delayed or withheld. The Parties agree and acknowledge as follows:
 - (i) neither Party shall be required to seek or apply for any consent, approval or agreement by any Person which would place the respective Party in breach of the Applicable Law or any Good Industry Practice; and
 - (ii) nothing in this Agreement shall require the Principal to give or procure the giving of any consent or approval which would be contrary to the protection, safety and efficient operation of the Railway and the Project.
- (f) A reference to "writing" shall include an e-mail transmission and any means of reproducing words in a tangible and permanently visible form.
- (g) The words "include" and "including" are to be construed without limitation.
- (h) Unless indicated otherwise, all references to "days" shall mean calendar days.
- (i) The words in this Agreement shall bear their natural meaning, except for any Definitions in accordance with Annex A: Definitions and common terms.
- 1.3. Order of Precedence. In the event of any discrepancy or inconsistency between the documents forming part of this Agreement, the following order of precedence shall apply:
 - (a) this Agreement document;
 - (b) explanations (clarifications) of the procurement documentation;
 - (c) Procurement documents with the annexes (including Technical specifications);
 - (d) clarifications of the Contractor's Proposal;
 - (e) Contractor's Proposal;
 - (f) all other Annexes of the Agreement.

Section II. General terms and conditions

- 2.1 Commencement. The provision of the Services shall commence at the Commencement Date upon the Principal signing the Commencement Deed. The Contractor within twenty (20) days following the Effective Date shall submit to the Principal:
 - (a) Insurance policy or certificate in compliance with Clause 10.8; and
 - (b) Performance Bond in compliance with Clause 10.16.

The Principal shall review and approve the above-mentioned documents and their compliance with the terms of the Agreement within five (5) Working Days after receipt of the mentioned documents and any additional information which may be requested by the Principal to verify their compliance with the Agreement, if any. If the submitted documents comply with the terms of the Agreement, the Principal shall sign the Deed of Commencement.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Agreement is effective upon the Effective Date, however, the Contractor shall be entitled to provide the Services only upon the Commencement Date. The Principal upon its sole discretion shall be entitled to extend the term for submission of the documents under Clause 2.1 if the Contractor has not submitted the documents due to objective reasons. In such circumstances, no separate amendments to the Agreement are required. If the Contractor fails to submit the documents within twenty (20) days following the Effective Date, or a different date if the

- Principal upon its sole discretion has extended the submission deadline, as per Clause 2.1 the Agreement shall be annulled by revocation, as if it had never existed.
- 2.2 Engagement. Upon the Commencement Date the Principal hereby engages the Contractor to provide and perform the Services for the purposes of the Project, as further described and according to the specifications contained Annex B: Technical Specification to this Agreement, and the Contractor hereby accepts such engagement. The Services shall result in the provision to the Principal of the Deliverables identified in accordance with Annex C: Schedule of Services to this Agreement.
- 2.3 Additional investigation points. Considering the nature of the Services, the Principal has envisaged that there may arise a need for geotechnical investigation in additional investigation points as further described under Section 5 of Annex B: Technical Specification. This geotechnical investigation in additional investigation points will be performed on an on-demand basis as deemed necessary by the Principal for the Fee provided under Annex H: Contractor's Proposal. In such circumstances, no separate amendments to the Agreement are required. The Principal shall be entitled to request the geotechnical investigation in additional investigation points within one (1) week from the Commencement Date.
- 2.4 *Co-Operation of the Parties.* The Parties shall cooperate with one another to fulfil their respective obligations under this Agreement. The Parties shall endeavour to maintain good working relationships among all key personnel engaged toward provision of the Services.
- 2.5 Licensing Requirements. By signing this Agreement, the declaration is made by the Contractor that the Contractor is professionally qualified, registered, authorized and licensed to provide the Services in accordance with the Applicable Law.
- 2.6 General Obligations of Contractor. The Contractor shall be responsible for the professional quality, technical accuracy, and coordination of all concepts, reports, specifications, and other services furnished under this Agreement. The Contractor shall have an obligation, without additional compensation of any kind, to correct or revise any errors, deficiencies, or omissions in concepts, programming, reports, designs, drawings, specifications, estimates, and other services rendered hereunder and forming part of the Services.
- 2.7 Acceptance Not a Waiver. The Principal's review, approval, acceptance, or payment for the Works forming part of the Services shall not be interpreted or construed to operate as a waiver of any right or cause for action arising out of the Contractor's performance of any Works under this Agreement. The Contractor shall remain liable to the Principal as allowed under this Agreement and under Applicable Law for any and all costs and/or Damages caused by the Contractor's negligent performance of any of the Works and Services furnished under this Agreement.
- 2.8 Total Value. The total value of the Services provided under the Agreement shall not exceed EUR 165610,00.
- 2.9 Term and termination. The term for the provision of the Services is identified under Annex C: Schedule of Services, but in any case shall not exceed twelve (12) months starting from the Commencement Date. The Agreement terminates once the Parties have fulfilled their contractual obligations arising out of this Agreement.
- 2.10 Representatives. The Contractor and the Principal shall appoint an officer, employee or individual to serve as its authorized representative toward supply or receipt of the Service or any part thereof (including, but not limited to, the issuance or confirmation of the Deed of Acceptance, Objection Notice), with full authority to act on its behalf in connection with this Agreement, without the rights to conclude amendments or variations to the Agreement (the "Representative"), the initial Representatives having been identified by Annex I: Representatives. Any other restriction placed by either Party on its Representative's authority shall be notified to the other Party in writing to be effective. The Representatives may delegate their authority by notice in writing specifying the identity of the delegate and specifying the scope of authority so delegated.
- 2.11 Replacements. The Contractor and the Principal may replace or remove any Representative by notifying in writing the other Parties following Clause 18.3. immediately, but not later than one (1) Working Day before the replacement or the removal of the respective Representative. In such circumstances, no separate amendments to the Agreement are required.

- 2.12 Variations. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement to the contrary, whenever the Contractor or the Principal reasonably consider that a variation to the Agreement or any part thereof (the "Variations") is necessary, the Contractor and the Principal shall negotiate in good faith on the terms of the intended Variations. For the avoidance of doubt, no Variation shall be effective unless and until concluded in writing by the Parties.
- 2.13 *Variations Scope.* For the purpose of the Agreement, and at any time prior to the completion of the Services under the Agreement Variations may be issued in respect of:
 - (a) amendments to the Agreement or any part thereof to comply with the amendments or adjustments to the Applicable Laws from time to time, if any;
 - (b) amendments to Annex B: Technical Specification to comply with any requirements (mandatory or optional) of the state or municipal authorities or institutions of the Republic of Latvia, which are entitled to issue decrees, instructions or recommendations with respect to the Service provision during the Project implementation;
 - (c) supply of additional Services not previously foreseen under the Agreement;
 - (d) provisions of the Agreement, which prescribe the conclusion of Variations;
 - (e) implementation of any amendments to the Agreement as initiated or approved by the Principal during the provision of the Services during the Project implementation which are necessary due to such reasons which the Principal or the Beneficiary could not foresee in advance, including, but not limited to matters under sub-Clauses 2.13 (a)-(e).
- 2.14 Limitations to the Variations. In case of Variations due to supply of additional Services not previously foreseen under the Agreement, or due to reasons which the Principal or the Beneficiary could not foresee in advance under, the total value of the Agreement may not change by more than fifty percent (50%) in accordance with the fourth paragraph of the Section 61 of the Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia.
- 2.15 De minimis. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Agreement, the Contractor and the Principal may agree on the supply of additional Services not previously foreseen under the Agreement if they do not change the nature of the Agreement (type and purpose specified herein) and if the total value of such additional Services does not concurrently reach the thresholds specified by the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia, starting from which the agreement notice must be published in the Official Journal of the European Union and ten percent (10%) of the total value of the Agreement.
- 2.16 Variation Fee. Fee for additional services as a result of Variations, if any, shall be determined taking into account the calculations under Annex H: Contractor's Proposal, unless the Parties have agreed otherwise. Furthermore, such fee shall be consistent with the market practice and proportionate to the Fee for Services with similar scope under the Agreement, if any.

Section III. Responsibilities of Principal

- 3.1. Supply of Information. Unless otherwise provided under this Agreement, the Principal shall, in a timely manner, provide to the Contractor any information regarding requirements and parameters of the Project, as may reasonably be requested by the Contractor for the purposes of the Services, provided that the Principal is in possession of such information.
- 3.2. Review of Documentation. The Principal shall examine Documentation as may be submitted by the Contractor for review by the Principal toward partial completion of the Services and, upon request of the Contractor, shall render decisions and opinions pertaining thereto.
- 3.3. *Decisions*. On all matters properly referred to it in writing by the Contractor the Principal shall give its decision in writing so as not to delay the Services and within a reasonable time.
- 3.4. Accounting and Auditing Services. The Principal shall furnish accounting and auditing services as may be necessary for the Services as the Principal may require to ascertain how and/or for what purposes the Contractor has used the funds paid under the terms of this Agreement.
- 3.5. Action Upon Becoming Aware of Defects. In the event the Principal observes or otherwise becomes aware of any error, fault, omission, or defect in the Services or non-conformance of any action forming

part of the Services, the Principal shall give prompt notice thereof to the Contractor. The Contractor shall have the obligation to correct such error, fault, omission, or defect in the Services or non-conformance of any action forming part of the Services.

Section IV. Responsibilities of Contractor

- 4.1. Standard of Performance. The Contractor's services shall be performed as expeditiously as is consistent with professional skill and care, orderly progress of the Services, and in accordance with the schedule of Services set forth in accordance with Annex C: Schedule of Services.
- 4.2. Obligation to Act in Accordance with Principal's Comments. In performing the Services, the Contractor shall have due regard to any comments made by the Principal in connection with any review of the Documentation or information furnished by the Principal and shall provide reasons to the Principal where it does not take into account any such comments.
- 4.3. Deliverable Requirements and Language. The Contractor may be required by the Principal to provide copies of prints or electronic editions of the Deliverables. Contractor shall procure that each Deliverable shall be submitted to the Principal both in the English language and the Latvian language and such obligation to provide the bilingual Deliverable shall be already included in the Fee and will not result in additional fees or compensation of Costs to the Principal.
- 4.4. Cooperation with stakeholders. The Contractor undertakes to cooperate with all the relevant stakeholders, including but not limiting the relevant stakeholders mentioned under Annex B: Technical Specification, of the Principal that are directly or indirectly involved in the Project as will be necessary for the sufficient provision of the Services and the fulfilment of the objectives set out in the Agreement.
- 4.5. Duty of Care and Exercise of Authority. The Contractor shall:
 - (a) in performing its obligations under this Agreement, exercise reasonable professional skill, diligence and care as may be expected of a properly qualified and competent person carrying out services of a similar size, nature, type and complexity;
 - (b) ensure that its personnel are properly qualified and competent in accordance with the relevant Standards;
 - (c) ensure that all maps, drawings, plans, specifications, estimates, surveys and other documents and information required to be prepared or submitted by the Contractor under this Agreement conform to Good Industry Practice generally acceptable at the time of submission of such maps, drawings, plans, specifications, estimates, studies, documents and information;
 - (d) at all times during the term of the Services, ascertain and comply with all Applicable Laws and health and safety standards of the Republic of Latvia, the European Union and Good Industry Practice;
 - (e) comply, where applicable, with any reasonable requirements of the Principal not otherwise provided for in this Agreement;
 - (f) ensure that all documents and information is furnished in accordance with Good Industry Practice, and using conventional industry quality control methods; and
 - (g) notify the Principal of any Defects in accordance with Clause 7.3 of this Agreement as soon as such Defects are identified by the Contractor;
 - (h) mobilize materials and equipment or any parts thereof provided by the Contractor which shall be of good quality and workmanship and fit for the intended purpose where a purpose is defined in the Agreement or, where no such purpose is defined, fits for its ordinary purpose;
 - (i) provide all necessary management, supervision, materials and equipment, plant, consumables, facilities and other things wheter of a temporary or permanent nature, so far as the necessity for providing the same is specified in or reasonably to be inferred from the Agreement.
- 4.6. *Maintenance of Records.* During the term of the Agreement and during ten (10) years from expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Contractor shall keep and maintain clear, adequate and accurate records and Documentation evidencing, to the reasonable satisfaction

of the Principal, that the Services has been and is being carried out in accordance with the Standards. In case of on-going audits, appeals, litigation or pursuit of claims concerning the grant, including in the case of correction of systemic or recurrent errors, irregularities, fraud or breach of obligations, the records shall be kept and maintained longer.

4.7. Access to Documentation. At all times during the term of the Agreement, the Beneficiary and/or the Principal shall have access to all Documentation. This access shall be continuing and survive the termination of this Agreement for either cause or convenience. The Documentation shall be kept in a generally recognized format for a period of ten (10) years from the date of expiration or termination of this Agreement. All records forming part of the Documentation shall be available to the Beneficiary and/or Principals` auditor, or expert appointed by the Beneficiary and/or Principal during the period of time specified in accordance with this Clause 4.7.

4.8. Sub-Contractors and Staff.

4.8.1. Sub-Contracorst and Staff. In carrying out the Services, the Contractor may only rely on the services of those Approved Sub-Contractors and Approved Staff listed in Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff, as such list may, from time to time, be modified or supplemented in agreement with the Principal and in accordance with the terms and subject to the criteria contained in the applicable Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia. Parties shall specify the name, contact details and legal representative(s) of each Approved Sub-Contractor as of the Effective Date in Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff. The Contractor shall have an obligation to notify the Principal in writing of any changes to Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff occurring during the term of this Agreement and of the required information for any new sub-contractors or staff member which it may subsequently engage toward provision of the Services.

Pursuant to the Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia the Contractor shall obtain prior written consent of the Principal for the replacement of each Approved Sub-contractor or each Approved Staff member, or each key personnel indicated in *Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff* and involvement of additional sub-contractors or staff members, or key personnel.

Review and evaluation of the replacement of Approved Sub-contractors or Approved Staff shall be carried out, and the consent or refusal to give consent shall be rendered by the Principal in accordance with Article 62 of the Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia.

The Contractor shall replace the Sub-contractor and/or Staff member which, during the effectiveness of this Agreement, meets any of the compulsory grounds for exclusion of tenderers (or sub-contractors) that were verified during the Procurement Procedure.

- 4.9. Responsibility for Performance by Sub-Contractors and Staff. The Contractor shall retain the complete responsibility for the proper performance of all of its obligations under this Agreement, and any act, failure to act, breach or negligence on the part of any of its Approved Sub-Contractors and Approved Staff shall, for the purposes of this Agreement, be deemed to be the act, failure to act, breach or negligence of the Contractor. No subcontract shall bind or purport to bind to Principal. Nevertheless, the Contractor shall ensure that any Approved Sub-Contractor and Approved Staff shall be bound by and observe the provisions of the Agreement in so far, they apply to the respective Approved Sub-Contractor and Approved Staff.
- 4.10. No Conflicting Activity. Except with the Principal's knowledge and express written permission, the Contractor shall not engage in any activity, or accept any employment, other agreement, interest, or contribution that would reasonably appear to compromise the Contractor's professional judgment and performance with respect to the Services and/or the Project. In performing the Services, the Contractor shall take all necessary measures to prevent any situation where the impartial and objective implementation of the Services is compromised for reasons involving economic interest, political or national affinity, family or emotional ties or any other shared interest.
- 4.11. Attendance of Meetings and presence at the Principal. To the extent necessary to ensure smooth and efficient provision of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the Principal's request, hold and/or attend meetings with the Principal, relevant stakeholders or any other third parties, at which appropriate personnel of the Contractor and the Principal and the Representatives of each Party shall be present. Upon the Principal's request the Contractor shall record all meetings (also online meetings) between

- Parties and prepare meeting reports within five (5) Working Days after each meeting. All meeting reports shall be harmonized by Principal.
- 4.12. Compliance with Laws. The Contractor shall review the Applicable Laws that is applicable to the Services. In carrying out any Works forming part of the Services, the Contractor shall, at all times, ensure compliance with requirements imposed by supra-national and/or governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project.
- 4.13. Information Furnished by Principal. The Contractor shall be entitled to rely on the accuracy and completeness of services and information furnished by the Principal. The Contractor shall provide prompt written notice to the Principal if the Contractor becomes aware of any errors, omissions, or inconsistencies in the information provided by the Principal or in the preparation or provision of Services or information.
- 4.14. *Certain Negative Covenants*. In performing the Services, the Contractor undertakes not to procure goods or services of any kind from any person meeting any of the following criteria:
 - (a) the Person who is a member of the Management Board or Supervisory Board of an Approved Sub-Contractor or procurator of an Approved Sub-Contractor, or is authorised to represent or act on behalf of an Approved Sub-Contractor with respect to any activity related to any subsidiary company of such Approved Sub-Contractor, and such Person has been accused of commitment of any of the following criminal offences pursuant to an order issued by a public prosecutor or was found to be guilty of commitment of any of the following criminal offences in accordance with a court judgment that has entered into legal force, is non-disputable and non-appealable:
 - (i) formation, organisation, leading or involvement in the criminal organisation or another criminal formation, or participation in the criminal acts of such organisation or formation;
 - (ii) accepting a bribe, giving of a bribe, misappropriation of a bribe, intermediation toward giving or taking of a bribe, acceptance of a prohibited benefit or commercial bribing;
 - (iii) fraud, misappropriation of funds or money laundering;
 - (iv) tax evasion or evasion of payments equivalent to tax;
 - (v) terrorism, financing of terrorism, instigation of acts of terrorism, terrorist threats or recruitment and training of a person with the aim of committing acts of terrorism;
 - (vi) human trafficking;
 - (b) the Person has, by decision of a competent authority or judgment of a court which has entered into legal force and is non-disputable and non-appealable, been found guilty of violation of labour law in any of the following manners:
 - (i) employment of one or more citizens or nationals of countries who are not citizens or nationals of a Member State of the European Union and are residing in the territory of a Member State of the European Union unlawfully;
 - (ii) employment of one or more persons without having entered into written employment agreement with such persons, or without having submitted an employee declaration with respect to such persons within a period of time stipulated in accordance with applicable laws and regulations applicable to persons that enter into salaried employment;
 - (c) the Person who, by decision of a competent authority or in accordance with judgment of a competent court which has entered into legal force, is non-disputable and non-appealable, has been held guilty of violation of applicable rules of competition law manifested as a vertical agreement aimed at restricting the ability of one or more purchasers to determine the resale price, or a horizontal cartel agreement, with the exception of instances where the relevant authority, upon having established the fact of violation of applicable rules of competition law, has discharged the candidate or participant in a tender offer from imposition of a fine or has reduced the amount of fine as a part of co-operation leniency programme;
 - (d) the Person who has insolvency proceedings initiated against it (except in the circumstances where a bailout or a similar set of measures are applied within the insolvency proceedings and

are aimed at preventing the bankruptcy and restoring the debtor back to solvency, in which case the Contractor shall evaluate the possibility of participation by such Person in performing the Services), economic activity of the Person has been suspended or discontinued, bankruptcy proceedings have been initiated against the Person or the Person is subject to a liquidation;

- (e) the Person has unpaid tax indebtedness in the country where the procurement is organised or in the country where the Person is registered or permanently residing as a tax payer, including the indebtedness with respect to State social insurance contributions, in the total amount exceeding EUR 150 in each individual country; in such case, the Contractor can, within its sole discretion, prompt the Approved Sub-Contractor to pay or discharge all outstanding tax indebtedness within ten (10) Working Days and, upon such payment or discharge, allow the Person to continue performance of the Services;
- (f) the Person is an entity registered offshore;
- (g) International or national sanctions or substantial sanctions by the European Union or the North Atlantic Treaty Organization Member State affecting the interests of the financial and capital market has been imposed to the Person and such sanctions can affect the execution of the Contract; and
- (h) any of the above-mentioned criteria shall apply to all members of a group of persons if the Person is a group of persons.
- 4.15. Visibility Requirements. At all times during performance of the Services, the Contractor undertakes to comply with each of the following requirements:
 - (a) any report, brochure, document, or information related to the Services conducted to the Principal and the Beneficiary by the Contractor or any other Person which the Contractor makes publicly available shall include each of the following:
 - (i) a funding statement which indicates that the Services are financed from CEF funds substantially in the following form: "Co-financed by the Connecting Europe Facility of the European Union";
 - (ii) with respect to printed materials, a disclaimer releasing the European Union from liability with respect to any contents of any distributed materials substantially in the form as follows: "The sole responsibility of this publication lies with the author. The European Union is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein". The disclaimer in all official languages of the European Union can be viewed on the website https://ec.europa.eu/inea/connecting-europe-facility/cef-energy/beneficiaries-info-point/publicity-quidelines-logos; and
 - (iii) the flag of the Council of Europe and the European Union;
 - (b) the requirements set forth in Clauses 4.15(a)(i)and 4.15(a)(iii) of this Agreement can be complied with by means of utilizing the following logo:



in the event the Contractor decides to utilize the above logo, the Contractor shall ensure that the individual elements forming part of the logo are not separated (the logo shall be utilized as a single unit) and sufficient free space is ensured around the logo; and

(c) in order to comply with the latest applicable visibility requirements established by the European Union, the Contractor shall regularly monitor changes to visibility requirements; as of the Effective Date, the visibility requirements are available for review on the webpage https://ec.europa.eu/inea/connecting-europe-facility/cef-energy/beneficiaries-info-point/publicity-guidelines-logos.

- 4.16. Reporting. The Contractor shall, in a format and at intervals to be agreed with the Principal:
 - (a) provide the Principal with regular reports and status updates on the progress of the Works.
 - (b) report on any changes to the Annexes of this Agreement, including but not limited to Services Schedule, which the Contractor considers may be needed in order to fulfil the objectives set out in the Agreement; and
 - (c) use reasonable endeavours to provide any other information and status updates as may be reasonably requested by the Principal at any time.

In order to avoid any doubt, any change to the above-mentioned documentation can be made only pursuant to this Agreement, if agreed by both Parties, and, if the proposed changes are compliant with the Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia.

- 4.17. Health and safety obligations. The Parties acknowledge and the Contractor consents that the Works to be provided as a part of the Services under the Agreement are related to potentially contaminated areas contaminated with military explosive objects and unexploded ordnance and thus pose a high risk to the life, safety and health of the persons related to the performance of the Works, and therefore the Contractor shall:
 - (a) ensure full compliance of the Works with all applicable health and safety regulations of the Applicable Law and obligations of the Agreement (also ensure and be responsible for complying with regulations that under particular Applicable Laws fall under the responsibility of the Principal or the Beneficiary), including, but not limited to appoint a work health and safety coordinator. The Contractor shall keep the Principal and the Beneficiary harmless of any claims from any Person, including, but not limited to, state or municipal institutions that are in charge of controlling the compliance of the Works with work safety regulations;
 - (b) bear the responsibility and be solely liable for the life, health and safety of all persons on the site and other places where the Works are being executed (including, but not limited to, the Contractor's personnel, Approved Sub-Contractors and Approved Staff). Furthermore, the Contractor shall keep the Principal and the Beneficiary harmless of any claims from such Persons or any third party made towards the Principal or the Beneficiary in relation to any harm which may have occurred to the life, health and safety of the persons being involved in the performance of the Works;
 - (c) comply with all instructions or directives issued by the relevant state or municipal authorities or the Principal's health and safety officers;
 - (d) take care of the health and safety of all persons on the site and other places (if any) where the Works are being performed;
 - (e) keep the site, Works (and the other places (if any) where the Works are being executed) clear of unnecessary obstruction so as to avoid danger to all persons on the site and other places where the Works are being executed;
 - (f) implement and duly maintain during the provision of Works a health and safety management system for all Persons the Contractor has involved in the performance of Works (including, but not limited to the Contractor's personnel, Approved Sub-Contractors and Approved Staff), compliant with "Plan", "Do", "Check", "Act" approach, which shall include and ensure at least the following:
 - (i) risk assessment for all activities carried out within the scope of Agreement;
 - (ii) safety instructions for the Works under the Agreement;
 - (iii) qualifications, orientation and training;
 - (iv) provision of safe working environment including necessary equipment, safety equipment and individual protection equipment;
 - (v) hazard and incident control, reporting and investigation. For the purpose of the Agreement all hazards and incidents identified by the Contractor shall be notified to the Principal;
 - (vi) the functionality of health and safety risk mitigation plan for all hazards or incidents identified during the investigation. For the purpose of the Agreement the Contractor shall

inform the Principal on the status of the health and safety risk mitigation plan upon the Principals request;

(vii) compliance with the reasonable guidelines and requirements of the Principal.

Section V. Representations and Warranties

- 5.1 *Certain Representations and Warranties by Parties.* Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party, as of the Effective Date, as follows:
 - (a) it has entered into this Agreement with the aim of attaining all of the objectives and performing in all material respects all of the obligations and commitments herein set forth;
 - (b) it has entered into this Agreement without having any intention or goal whatsoever to violate the Applicable Law, its own Articles of Association, other constitutional documents, laws or agreements of any kind to which it is a party;
 - (c) it is not bankrupt and is not the subject of insolvency or winding-up proceedings, where its assets are being administered by a liquidator or by the court, it is not in an arrangement with creditors, where its business activities are suspended, or it is in any analogous situation arising from a similar procedure under the laws of the country where it is registered and submits its tax accounts; and
 - (d) it has entered into this Agreement of its own volition and in good faith.
- 5.2 *Certain Representations and Warranties by Contractor.* The Contractor represents and warrants to the Principal, as of the Effective Date, as follows:
 - (a) it has all requisite qualification, skills and competence to perform the Services on the terms and conditions of this Agreement which are no less favourable than the terms and conditions of service identified by the Contractor in any document submitted by the Contractor to the Principal as part of the Procurement Procedure and on the terms of the Contractor's Proposal;
 - (b) it holds all requisite licenses, permits, authorizations, approvals and consents necessary to enable performance by the Contractor of any Works forming a part of the Services according to the specifications contained in this Agreement and *Annex B: Technical Specification*;
 - (c) it has all requisite ability to ensure the highest quality of the Services;
 - (d) it will assign competent and duly qualified personnel indicated in the tender proposal to carry out the Works set out in this Agreement according to the tender proposal and applying the highest professional Standard and Good Industry Practice. Moreover, whereby the Applicable Laws for the performance of any Works forming a part of the Services requires the personnel to obtain a special certificate, license, permit, authorization, qualification, the respective personnel assigned by the Contractor for the performance of such Works shall be duly certified following the Applicable Laws;
 - (e) it is not deemed to be a person associated with the Principal for the purposes of Applicable Law;
 - (f) it has been registered as a VAT payer in Republic of Latvia;
 - (g) it is compliant with all of the requirements of the Contractor's Declaration contained in *Annex G: Declaration of Contractor* and will continue to be compliant with all such requirements during the term of this Agreement;
 - (h) it will immediately arrange for engagement of supplemental personnel when necessary at the cost of the Contractor. For the avoidance of any doubt, the engagement of supplemental personnel shall not require approval by the Principal, provided that the personnel complies with the Applicable Law, including the Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia, and this Agreement;
 - (i) it will comply with all applicable health and safety regulations of the Applicable Law and obligations of the Agreement, in particular the requirements under Clause 4.17.

Section VI. Fee and Payment

- 6.1 Fee. In consideration of provision of the Services, the Beneficiary undertakes to pay the Contractor a Fee in the total amount set forth in accordance with Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule (the "Fee") which shall be split into separate instalments and be payable by the Beneficiary to the Contractor according to the payment schedule set forth in Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule. It is acknowledged and agreed by the Parties that the Fee shall include all Costs and expenses incurred by the Contractor and Approved Sub-Contractors toward performing the Services. The Fee specified in accordance with this Clause 6.1 excludes value added tax that will be charged at the rate applicable in accordance with Applicable Law at the time of invoicing.
- 6.2 Invoicing. According to Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule and following each Completion Date, provided that the Principal has accepted/approved the particular Deliverable of the Services which the invoice is related to, the Contractor shall deliver to the Principal an invoice specifying the amount of the Fee payable and the period of time with respect to which the Fee is payable. In the event the Principal objects to payment of any amount claimed by the Contractor in the invoice, notice in the form chosen by the Principal to this effect shall be given by the Principal to the Contractor not later than seven (7) days before the due date for payment under this Clause 6.3. This notice of objection shall state the amount to be withheld, the grounds for withholding the payment and the basis on which that amount is calculated. Unless such notice of objection is made by the Principal, the amount to be paid is that stated in the invoice which shall become due and payable in accordance with this Agreement. For the avoidance of any doubt, the Beneficiary shall not be required to pay any amount under this Agreement with respect to any part of the Services that has not been accepted by the Principal in accordance with Clauses 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7 of this Agreement.
- 6.3 Payment. Subject to the provisions of Clause 6.2, the Beneficiary reserves the rights to make the payments to the Contractor with set-off, retention, counterclaim, abatement or other deduction of any kind that arises from this Agreement and from the obligations of the Contractor provided herein (i.e. in cases of accrued contractual penalty amounts, in case if the Principal haven't received residence certificate as stipulated in this Agreement, etc.). If the Beneficiary uses the right to make the payments to the Contractor with set off, retention, counterclaim, abatement or other deduction of any kind, then the Principal so notifies to the Contractor no later than on the date of the respective payment stating the amount, the grounds and the basis on which the Beneficiary uses its right to set off, retention, counterclaim, abatement or other deduction or other right. Invoices shall be paid within sixty (60) days after the date of issue of the invoice. For the avoidance of any doubt, and save for the Advance Payment, the Beneficiary shall not be required to pay any amount with respect to any invoice in the absence of a Deed of Acceptance duly signed by the Principal taking into account that the Services shall be accepted by the Principal in accordance with Clauses 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7 of this Agreement.
- 6.4 Advance Payment. Notwithstanding Clause 6.2 and 6.3, the Contractor may request an advance payment from the Beneficiary, if needed, within thirty (30) days from the Commencement Date in the amount provided under the Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule (the "Advance Payment"), by delivering an invoice for the respective amount to the Principal. The Advance Payment invoice submitted by the Contractor shall be paid in accordance with the Section VI. Fee and Payment. For the sake of clarity, the Advance Payment shall be set-off against the first payments following the Advance Payment per the Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule until the Advance Payment is entirely set-off. The Advance Payment set-off against the Contractors invoices under the Agreement shall be applied until the aggregate amount of the Advance Payment is expended.

The Advance Payment shall not be considered as a payment for the fulfilment of any of the Services, thus in case the Contractor is in material breach of the Agreement or if the Agreement is terminated for whatever reason under Section IX. Termination and suspension before the complete set off of the Advance Payment under Clause 6.4 the Contractor shall be obliged to immediately, but not later than within five (5) Working Days from the termination of the Agreement, repay the residual amounts of the Advance Payment in full to the Beneficiary. In case the Contractor does not repay the residual amounts of the Advance Payment in full to the Beneficiary, the Beneficiary shall be entitled to carry out a recourse on the Performance Bond without delay.

6.5 Costs and Commissions. Each Party shall bear its own costs, fees, commissions and expenses incurred in connection with the transfer of any funds under this Agreement to the other Party.

- 6.6 Compliance with Tax Obligations. It is acknowledged and agreed by the Parties that the Fee shall include all taxes and duties payable by the Contractor in the consequence of provision of the Services, except value added tax (the "VAT"). The Contractor shall, at the sole cost and expense of the Contractor, comply with the obligation to pay all taxes and duties relevant to the provision of the Services in the Republic of Latvia; and in accordance with Applicable Law of the Republic of Latvia. In addition, the Contractor shall assume all risks associated with the payment or obligation to pay such taxes and duties, if any. The Contractor assumes all risks associated with the possible increase in the amount of the Fee arising as a result of the obligation of having to pay any such taxes or duties.
- 6.7 *Invoice.* The Contractor's invoices shall contain the following Contractor's details and details about the Agreement:
 - a) Contractor's details and details about the Agreement:

Contractor	SIA "Intergeo Baltic"				
Registration No	40103884728				
VAT payer's No or indication that the Contractor is not a VAT payer	LV40103884728				
Legal address, city, Zip code, country	Katrinas dambis 14-302, Riga, LV-1045				
Legal name of Bank					
SWIFT Code					
IBAN					
Subject:	For provided services according to the AGREEMENT FOR GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATIONS IN THE FORMER MILITARY WAREHOUSE AREA IN CEKULE Agreement No 1.19/LV-2021-38 (CEF Contract No INEA/CEF/TRAN/ M2020/2428991, activity No 5: "Cekule site study, identification of unexploded ordinance (UXO) in former Cekule military area - LV" and further grant agreements, Contract Manager: Līga Marija Putna				

- b) the serial number and date of issue of the invoice;
- c) the name or a description of the services;
- d) the quantity of the services;
- e) the date of provision of the services or the date of receipt of full or partial payment for the services if the date can be determined and differs from the date of issue of the invoice;
- f) the price of the services exclusive of value added tax and any discounts;
- g) the taxable amount broken down by different rates of value added tax together with the applicable rates of value added tax or the amount of supply exempt from tax;
- h) the amount of value added tax payable. The amount of value added tax shall be indicated in euros;
- i) the following Beneficiary`s details:

Beneficiary	Ministry of Transport of the Republic of Latvia
Registration No	90000088687
VAT payer's No	LV90000088687
Address	Gogoļa iela 3, Rīga, LV-1743
Name of Bank	
Bank Code	
Bank Account No	

The Contractor shall send the invoice to the Principal electronically to the following e-mail address: invoices@railbaltica.org. The Principal shall review the invoice to verify whether it contains all necessary requisites.

Section VII. Commencement of Services, remedying of Defects and acceptance

- 7.1 Services Commencement. The Contractor shall start the provision of the Services on the Commencement Date and shall ensure that the Deliverables are furnished to the Principal on or before each relevant Services Milestone as identified in accordance with Annex C: Schedule of Services. The Contractor shall perform the Services timely and with due diligence having due regard to any applicable Services Milestones and any other key dates for performance of the Services set out in the Agreement and the applicable Annexes, as may be amended from time to time with the consent of the Principal or in accordance with this Agreement and Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia.
- 7.2 Impediments and Delays. If the Services, or any part thereof, is impeded or delayed by the Principal, the Beneficiary or any third party engaged by the Principal so as to increase the duration of the Services:
 - a) the Contractor shall inform the Principal of the circumstances and probable effects of such impediment or delay upon the agreed schedule of Services specified in accordance with *Annex C: Schedule of Services*, and
 - b) the duration of the Services shall be increased, and any Services Milestones affected by the impediment or delay shall be extended accordingly.
- 7.3 Defects. The Principal shall notify the Contractor of each Defect as soon as Defect is identified by the Principal and the Contractor shall have an obligation to notify the Principal of each Defect as soon as Defect is identified by the Contractor. Upon discovering a Defect, or upon receipt by the Contractor of a notification of Defect from the Principal, the Contractor shall have no more than five (5) Working Days to remedy the Defect (the "Cure Period"). In the event of inability or failure by the Contractor to remedy the Defect within the Cure Period, the Principal shall be entitled, at the sole and exclusive discretion of the Principal, to do any of the following:
 - (a) allow the Contractor an additional time period for remedying the Defect, such time period to be determined in the sole discretion of the Principal;
 - (b) remedy the Defect at own cost of the Principal (including by means of relying on the services of a third Person) and demand reimbursement by the Contractor of Costs incurred by the Principal as a result of having to pay other Persons toward carrying out any work or action;
 - (c) terminate the Agreement according to Section IX. Termination and suspension.

For the avoidance of any doubt, the application of the Cure Period under this Clause 7.3 shall be without prejudice to and shall not relieve the Contractor from the obligation to pay any contractual penalty in accordance with the provisions of Clause 10.2 at the Principal's request or to compensate any Damages in accordance with the provisions of Clause 10.3 of this Agreement.

- 7.4 Completion of Services and Completion Deed. Meeting of a Services Milestone or supply of a Deliverable occurs whenever the Contractor has completed all of the Works which the Contractor has undertaken to perform according to the Annex B: Technical Specification and Annex C: Schedule of Services by the relevant Services Milestone. On meeting a Services Milestone and/or producing a Deliverable (including all Documentation and information forming part of the Deliverable) constituting all or an identifiable part of the Services, the Contractor shall issue to the Principal a Deed of Acceptance substantially in the form of Annex F: Deed of Acceptance (the "Deed of Acceptance"). The Deed of Acceptance shall include the Deliverable and adequate supporting Documentation and information relevant to the Services Milestone attained and/or Deliverable completed.
- 7.5 Acceptance or rejection of the Deed of Acceptance. Upon the reception of the Deed of Acceptance from the Conractor in accordance with Clause 7.4 the Principal shall review the submitted Deed of Acceptance and the specific Deliverable and any supporting Documentation and:
 - (a) in the event the Principal rejects the submitted Deed of Acceptance, it shall give notice to the Contractor setting out in reasonable detail any Defect or reason for the objection (the

- "Objection Notice") within reasonable time following receipt of the Deed of Acceptance thus initiating the Cure Period and Defects remedy procedure as specified in Clause 7.3; or
- (b) in the event no reasons for objection to the Deed of Acceptance exist, the Principal shall also sign the Deed of Acceptance, within reasonable time following its receipt. The date the Principal accepts and signs the Deed of Acceptance shall constitute "Completion Date" with respect to the relevant Deliverable. The signed Deed of Acceptance may have annexed to it a list of any outstanding Defects or deficiencies to be corrected by the Contractor.
- 7.6 Completion of Services Following Receipt of Objection Notice. After the Defects specified by the Principal in the Objection Notice have been remedied the Contractor shall issue to the Principal a second signed Deed of Acceptance as per the procedure specified in Clause 7.4 and the Principal shall perform the review as generally provided for in Clause 7.5 of this Agreement and:
 - (a) in the event no further reasons for objection to the second Deed of Acceptance exist, then the Defects remedy procedure is concluded and the provisions of Clause 7.5(b) are to be applied;
 - (b) in the event the Principal rejects the submitted second Deed of Acceptance it shall give a second Objection Notice, thus simultaneously continuing the Defects remedy procedure with the possibility for the Principal to execute the Clauses 7.3(a)–7.3(c) at its own discretion.
- 7.7 Objection Notice and Contractual Penalty. For the avoidance of any doubt, the giving by the Principal of any Objection Notice or second Objection Notice shall be without prejudice to and shall not relieve the Contractor from the obligation to pay any contractual penalty or to pay Damages in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement upon the Principals request.
- 7.8 The Contractor shall provide the Deliverables to the Principal before the respective Services Milestone for initial alignment as further described under *Annex B: Technical Specification*. Upon receiving Principals` comments, the Contractor shall implement the necessary adjustments, if any, and submit the Deliverable to Principal according to Clause 7.4 following the respective Services Milestone.

Section VIII. Intellectual Property Rights

- 8.1 Proprietary Rights. All Documentation forming part of the Deliverables developed under this Agreement is and shall become the property of the Beneficiary at the moment of creation regardless of whether the Services or Deliverable is produced or finally accepted. It is acknowledged and agreed by the Parties that the Beneficiary and/or the Principal shall be permitted to reproduce the drawings and schemes and distribute the prints in connection with the use or disposition of the Documentation without any approval of the other Parties and without incurring obligation to pay any royalties or additional compensation whatsoever to the Contractor.
- 8.2 Licence from employees of Contractor. The Contractor hereby warrants that it shall obtain from its employees and grant to the Beneficiary an exclusive licence to use the personal Intelectual Property rights pertaining to the Documentation. The licence shall be valid for the time period the Intellectual Property is under legal protection.
- 8.3 Intellectual Property in Documentation. The Contractor represents and warrants that it owns all Intellectual Property required for the purposes of completing its obligations under this Agreement and in all Documentation deliverable by or on behalf of the Contractor under this Agreement and that, to the extent any Intellectual Property in any Documentation is not owned by the Contractor, it has obtained all requisite consents from owner(s) of all Intellectual Property in the Documentation to fulfil all of the obligations undertaken by the Contractor under this Agreement and has fully discharged all obligations with respect to payment of any royalties or fees.
- 8.4 Transfer of Ownership to Beneficiary. The Beneficiary shall acquire legal title to and ownership in the Intellectual Property in all Documentation deliverable to the Beneficiary under this Agreement as of the moment of delivery by the Contractor to the Principal of the Deed of Acceptance, together with the Deliverable and Documentation and information forming part of the Deliverable, in accordance with Clause 7.4 of this Agreement; provided, however, that the Beneficiary has paid the Fee or other consideration payable under the terms of this Agreement with respect to the relevant part of the Services or Deliverable. For the avoidance of any doubt, such title and ownership shall confer upon the Beneficiary, without limitation, each of the following:

- (a) the right to reproduce the Documentation and information, or any part thereof, and distribute copies of the Documentation and information or any part thereof;
- (b) the right to modify, amend and supplement the Documentation and information, or any part thereof:
- (c) the right to licence the Documentation and information, or any part thereof, for use by others; and
- (d) the right to transfer ownership in the Documentation and information, or any part thereof, to others.
- 8.5 Grant of Limited License to Contractor. Upon acceptance by the Principal of any Deliverable and Documentation forming part of any Deliverable in accordance with Clause 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7 and Clause 8.6 of this Agreement the Beneficiary shall be deemed to have granted the Contractor an irrevocable and exclusive licence to reproduce, modify and distribute copies of any Documentation forming part of any Deliverable for the purposes of the Services and the Project, subject to the following restrictions:
 - (a) the license shall apply during the term of this Agreement only;
 - (b) the permitted use shall only cover the right to reproduce, modify and distribute the Documentation and information, or any part thereof, for the purposes of performing, implementing or modifying the Services; and
 - (c) the Documentation and information, or any part thereof, shall not, without the prior consent by the Beneficiary, be distributed or communicated to any third party for purposes other than those permitted in accordance with this Clause 8.5 of this Agreement.

The license in accordance with this Clause 8.5 of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been granted to the Contractor as of the Completion Date.

- 8.6 No Additional Royalty. It is acknowledged and agreed by the Parties that consideration for the transfer of ownership in the Intellectual Property shall be forming part of the Fee and no additional royalty, fee or other consideration of any kind shall be payable by the Beneficiary to the Contractor or to any third party in consideration of the transfer of ownership in the Intellectual Property in any Documentation.
- 8.7 No Infringement. The Contractor represents and warrants to the Principal and the Beneficiary that no Documentation and information deliverable to the Principal and/or the Beneficiary under the terms of this Agreement will infringe any existing Intellectual Property of any third party. In the event any of the representations or warranties contained in this Section VIII. Intellectual Property Rights prove to be untrue or inaccurate, the Contractor undertakes, at its own cost and expense, to defend and settle any claim raised by any third party alleging infringement of Intellectual Property in the Documentation and information. The foregoing undertaking by the Contractor shall apply subject to the following conditions:
 - (a) the Principal shall notify the Contractor, without undue delay, of any third-party claim alleging infringement of any Intellectual Property in any Documentation;
 - (b) the Principal refrains from admitting liability under any third-party claim or acting on the account of such claim without prior approval by the Contractor; and
 - (c) the exclusive control over any legal proceeding or settlement related any third-party claim shall be exercised by the Contractor; provided, however, that the Principal shall render the Contractor all reasonable assistance toward such proceeding or settlement, at the cost and expense of the Contractor.
- 8.8 Infringement Proceedings. In the event the Principal is a party to legal proceedings involving allegations of infringement of any Intellectual Property in the Documentation of any third party, the Contractor shall keep the Principal fully informed of all aspects relevant to the legal proceedings and the Principal shall have the right, at its own cost, to be represented in the legal proceedings by separate counsel. In the event the Contractor fails to act against claims alleging infringement of any Intellectual Property in the Documentation and information of any third party within reasonable time but, in any event, within twenty (20) days of having been notified of such claims, the Principal shall

have the right to assume legal defence against claims alleging infringement of Intellectual Property and shall be entitled to reimbursement by the Contractor of reasonable costs and expenses incurred toward such defence.

- 8.9 Continued Use. In the event a court of competent jurisdiction resolves in a binding judgment that the Documentation and information, or any part thereof, infringe Intellectual Property of any third party, the Contractor shall, at its own cost and expense, procure for the Principal and the Beneficiary the right of continued use of the Documentation and information, or part thereof infringing Intellectual Property of a third party.
- 8.10 License in Intellectual Property of the Contractor. The Contractor hereby grants the Principal and the Beneficiary an irrevocable and non-exclusive license to use, reproduce, modify and/or enhance any Intellectual Property of the Contractor, provided and to the extent Intellectual Property of the Contractor is used by the Principal or the Beneficiary for the purposes of the Railway and/or the Project. It is agreed and acknowledged by the Parties that the license fee for the grant of license in accordance with this Clause 8.10 forms part of the Fee and such license shall continue to be valid irrespective of expiration of this Agreement following completion of the Services or termination of this Agreement for any reason.
- 8.11 Obligation to Procure Intellectual Property Rights. Where the Contractor is not the legal owner of any relevant Intellectual Property of the Contractor, the Contractor shall use reasonable endeavours to procure for the Principal and the Beneficiary the rights specified in accordance with Clause 8.10 of this Agreement.
- 8.12 Indemnification by the Contractor. The Contractor shall defend and indemnify the Principal and the Beneficiary from and against any and all Damages arising from the use by the Principal and the Beneficiary of any Intellectual Property of the Contractor, to the extent use by the Principal and the Beneficiary is within the scope of the license granted to the Principal and the Beneficiary in accordance with Clause 8.10 of this Agreement.

Section IX. Termination and suspension

- 9.1 Termination for Material Breach or Bankruptcy. Subject to the provisions of Clause 9.2 of this Agreement, either Party shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement upon giving a written notice of termination to the other Party in the event of material breach by the other Party of any of its obligations under this Agreement. The written notice of termination shall contain an itemized description of the breach. An event of material breach shall include, but not me limited to, any of the following:
 - (a) commitment by a Party of any persistent or material breach of this Agreement (which shall include failure to pay an amount of at least 20,000 EUR due to the other Party or perform any part of the Services valued at least 20,000 EUR;
 - (b) failure by the Contractor to duly address any of the matters raised in the second Objection Notice given by the Principal in accordance with Clause 7.6;
 - (c) failure by any Deliverable to conform to any of the material requirements to such Deliverable contained in *Annex B: Technical Specification* provided that such failure is not capable of being remedied during the Cure Period;
 - (d) failure by the Beneficiary to make any payment to the Contractor in accordance with this Agreement within at least thirty (30) Working Days from the date of payment falling due;
 - (e) any of the representations or warranties given by either Party under Clause 5.1 of this Agreement or any of the representations or warranties given by the Contractor under Clause 5.2 of this Agreement proving to be untrue; or
 - (f) breach by the Contractor of the undertaking contained in Clause 8.11 of this Agreement.
- 9.2 Corrective Period. In the event of breach by either Party of its obligations under this Agreement, the non-breaching Party shall allow the breaching Party seven (7) days for corrective action or submission of a corrective action plan (the "Corrective Period"). The Corrective Period shall be counted from the date of receipt by the breaching Party of a written notice of breach. Should no satisfactory corrective

action be taken, or acceptable corrective action plan provided by the breaching Party, the non-breaching Party shall have the right to terminate the Agreement. It is acknowledged and agreed by the Parties that the provisions of this Clause 9.2 of this Agreement shall not apply with respect to any of the events enumerated in accordance with Clause 9.4 of this Agreement. In addition and for the avoidance of any doubt, the application of the Corrective Period under this Clause 9.2 of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to and shall not relieve either Party from the obligation to pay any contractual penalty in accordance with the provisions of Clause 10.2 of this Agreement or to pay Damages incurred by the other Party in accordance with the provisions of Clause 10.3 of this Agreement.

For the sake of clarity, the Corrective Period is not applied in case of material breach under Clause 9.1(b) or Clause 9.1(c), as in these cases the purpose of the Corrective Period is fulfilled by the Cure Period or the term specified in the Ojbection Notice, as the case may be, and their prior application.

- 9.3 Right to Terminate Immediately.
 - 9.3.1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, a Party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon giving the other Party a written notice of termination explaining, in reasonable detail, the reason for termination upon occurrence of any of the following:
 - (a) breach by the other Party of Clause 18.2 of this Agreement;
 - (b) an event of Force Majeure has been continuing during more than ninety (90) days;
 - (c) the other Party had passed a resolution for winding-up (other than in order to amalgamate or reconstruct);
 - (d) breach by the Contractor any of the confidentiality undertakings contained under Secion XIII. Confidentiality;
 - (e) the other Party is unable to pay its debts and has presented a petition for voluntary bankruptcy;
 - (f) the other Party had a bankruptcy order issued against it;
 - (g) liquidation, insolvency or legal protection proceedings have been initiated with respect to the other Party or the other Party is declared insolvent;
 - (h) the occurrence of any event analogous to the events enumerated under Clauses 9.3.1 (e) (g) under the law of any jurisdiction to which the other Party's assets and undertaking are subject.
 - 9.3.2. *Principal's Right to Terminate Immediately.* The Principal may terminate this Agreement immediately upon giving the other Party a written notice of termination explaining, in reasonable detail, the reason for termination, if:
 - (g) CEF Co-financing for further financing of the Services is not available to the Beneficiary fully or partly;
 - In such a case, the Beneficiary shall pay the Contractor the fees in respect of the Services provided under this Agreement up to the date of the notification of the termination of this Agreement and the Beneficiary is not obliged to pay contractual or any other penalty or Damages to the Contractor.
 - (h) it is not possible to execute the Agreement due to the application of international or national sanctions, or European Union or North Atlantic Treaty Organization applied sanctions significantly affecting interests of financial or capital market.
 - (i) in case if the proposed time schedule described in *Annex C: Schedule of Services* is breached.
 - 9.3.3. Termination according to Public Procurement Law. The Agreement can be immediately terminated upon giving the other Party a written notice of termination explaining, in reasonable detail, the reason for termination upon occurrence of any of the provisions mentioned in Article 64 of the Public Procurement Law. In such a case, the Beneficiary shall pay the Contractor the fees in respect of the Works and Services provided under this

Agreement up to the date of the notification of the termination of this Agreement and the Beneficiary is not obliged to pay contractual or any other penalty or Damages to the Contractor.

- 9.4 Right to Advance to Completion. In the event the Contractor fails to fulfil any of its obligations, or fails to cure any breach in accordance with Clause 9.2 of this Agreement, and the Agreement is terminated by the Principal, the Principal may advance the Services to completion by employing the services of other professional service supplier(s) or by other means available to the Principal. The Contractor shall be liable to the Principal or the Beneficiary for any and all additional costs incurred due to failure by the Contractor to perform. The rights and remedies available to the Principal set forth in accordance with this Clause 9.4 of this Agreement shall be in addition to any and all other rights and remedies available under Applicable Law.
- 9.5 Consequences of Termination. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, the obligations of the Parties set forth in this Agreement shall cease, except with respect to the following:
 - (a) any obligations arising as a result of any antecedent breach of this Agreement or any accrued rights; and
 - (b) the provisions stipulated in accordance with Clauses 4.6, 4.7, 6.4, 7.3, 8.3, 8.4, 8.6, 8.7, 8.12, 9.6, 10.1, 10.2, 10.3, 18.1 of this Agreement and Section XIII. Confidentiality, Section XIV. Right to Audit, Section XV. On-the-spot-visits and Section XVI. Governing Law and Resolution of Disputes which shall survive the termination or expiry of this Agreement and continue in full force and effect along with any other Clauses of or Annexes hereof which are necessary to give effect to the Clauses specifically identified in this 9.5(b) of this Agreement.
- 9.6 Partial Acceptance. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary including, without limitation, the provisions of Clauses 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 an 7.7 of this Agreement and in the event of termination of this Agreement, the Principal shall have the right, in the sole discretion of the Principal, to partially accept any Works, part of Works or part of the Services delivered to the Principal under this Agreement (the "Right of Partial Acceptance"). The Principal shall notify the Contractor of its intention to exercise the Right of Partial Acceptance in the termination notice given in accordance with Clause 9.1 or Clause 9.3 of this Agreement, specifying, in reasonable detail, the Works, part of Works or part of the Services which the Principal would like to partially accept. In the event of receipt of such notice, the Contractor shall reasonably cooperate with the Principal in order to ascertain transfer to the Principal of ownership in the result(s) of such Works, part of Works or part of the Services and determination of the amount of consideration payable by the Beneficiary.
- 9.7 Beneficiary's Obligation to Pay. Subject to the provisions of Clause 9.6 of this Agreement and except in the event of termination by the Principal occurring as a result of violation by the Contractor of Clause 18.2 of this Agreement, or termination by the Principal according to Clause 9.3.2 or 9.3.3 of this Agreement in the event this Agreement is terminated for any reason prior to completion of the Services, the Beneficiary shall have an obligation to pay the Contractor the following:
 - (a) the Costs incurred by the Contractor up to the date of termination; and
 - (b) except where termination is due to negligence of the Contractor, due to the application of international sanctions, breach by the Contractor, insolvency of the Contractor or a Force Majeure Event under *Section XII. Force Majeure* an amount equal to the costs reasonably and properly incurred by the Contractor as a result of or in connection with such termination.
- 9.8 No Obligation to Pay Costs Incurred Prior to Acceptance. Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement to the contrary including, without limitation, under Clause 9.7 of this Agreement, the Beneficiary shall have no obligation to pay any of the Costs incurred by the Contractor with respect to any Works or the Services (or part of any Works or the Services) not deemed as having been accepted by the Principal in accordance with Clauses 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7 of this Agreement.
- 9.9 No Prejudice to Other Rights. The right to terminate this Agreement shall be without prejudice to any other right of either Party which has accrued prior to or as a result of such termination or to any remedy available to either Party under the terms of this Agreement or in accordance with Applicable Law.

Section X. Liability

- 10.1 Liability of the Parties. The Contractor shall be liable to compensate Damages incurred by the Principal and/or the Beneficiary arising out of or in connection with this Agreement and pay contractual penalty set forth in accordance with Clause 10.2 of this Agreement if a breach of any of the obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement is established against the Contractor. The Beneficiary shall be liable to pay the contractual penalty set forth in accordance with Clause 10.2 of this Agreement if a breach of payment obligations of the Beneficiary under this Agreement is established against the Beneficiary.
- 10.2 Contractual Penalty. In the event of failure by the Contractor to meet any Services Milestone and/or supply any Deliverable, the Contractor shall be liable to pay to the Beneficiary a penalty of zero point five (0.5%) of the amount of total Fee payable under this Agreement with respect to the particular Services Milestone and/or Deliverable for each day of delay starting from the first delayed day with meeting the respective Services Milestone and/or supplying of the particular Deliverable set forth in accordance with Annex C: Schedule of Services; provided, however, that the total amount of penalty payable by the Contractor under this Clause 10.2 for the relevant Works, as specified according to Annex C: Schedule of Services shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total amount of the Fee for the respective Services Milestone and/or Deliverable. In the event of failure by the Beneficiary to pay any amount in accordance with Section VI. Fee and Payment, the Beneficiary shall be liable to pay the Contractor a penalty of zero point five percent (0.5%) of the amount of the amount invoiced for each day of delay with meeting the payment obligation; provided, however, that the total amount of penalty payable by the Beneficiary under this Clause 10.2 of this Agreement shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total amount remaining unpaid under the relevant invoice.
 - For the avoidance of doubt the contractual penalties shall be applied upon the sole discretion of the entitled Party under the Agreement considering the material consequences of the infringement.
- 10.3 Compensation for Damages. Notwithstanding of and without prejudice to any contractual penalty payable in accordance with Clause 10.2 of this Agreement and subject to the provisions of Clause 10.5 of this Agreement, in the event it is established that either Party is liable to the other Party with respect to any breach of its respective obligations under this Agreement, the liable Party shall compensate the other Party for any Damages incurred as a result of such breach, subject to the following terms:
 - (a) the amount of compensation shall be limited to the amount of reasonably foreseeable Damages suffered as a result of the breach(es), but not otherwise; and
 - (b) if either Party is considered to be liable jointly with third parties to the other, the proportion of compensation payable by the liable Party shall be limited to that proportion of liability which is attributable to the breach by the liable Party.
- 10.4 Attribution of Damages. Any Damages suffered by either Party shall, for the purposes of Clause 10.3 of this Agreement, be reduced to the extent that the Damages are caused by or contributed to by the other Party's own negligence or breach of its obligations under this Agreement.
- 10.5 Limitation of Liability. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, in no circumstances shall the Contractor, the Principal or the Beneficiary be liable to one another for any loss of production, loss of profit, loss of revenue, loss of contract, liability incurred under other agreements or any indirect or consequential loss arising out of or in connection with this Agreement. The Contractor's total liability for the Works carried out under this Agreement shall in no circumstances exceed twice (2) the amount of the total value of the Agreement as per Clause 2.8.
- 10.6 Professional civil liability insurance. The Contractor shall insure against public/third party liability (the "Professional civil liability insurance") for the implementation of the Services during the term of the Agreement. In case of imperative legal requirements related to specific types of insurance for the performance of Works forming a part of the Services, the Contractor shall also provide additional insurance for these activities or shall include respective extensions to Contractor's Professional civil liability insurance policy.
- 10.7 Obligation to effect insurance. The Contractor undertakes to effect such Professional civil liability insurance with an insurer as detailed by the Principal and based on commercially reasonable terms (including reasonable exclusions) and which is compliant with the Agreement conditions and Applicable Law requirements. The limit of liability of the Professional civil liability insurance shall be

- no less than twice (2) the amount of the total value of the Agreement as per Clause 2.8 during the entire term of the Agreement. The amount of liability for each insured event shall be no less than twenty percent (20%) of the total value of the Agreement as per Clause 2.8.
- 10.8 Submission of Insurance policy or certificate. Within twenty (20) days following the Effective Date, the Contractor shall submit to the Principal either the Professional civil liability insurance policy, or certificate with the insurer's confirmation regarding full coverage and validity of such Professional civil liability insurance policy. The Contractor shall maintain the Professional civil liability insurance policy in force as long as it is necessary to accomplish any obligations according to this Agreement. In addition, the Contractor shall provide not less than five (5) Working Days prior written notice to the Principal of any cancellation or material reduction in the Professional civil liability insurance policy. The Contractor is obliged to submit to the Principal documents as per Clause 10.8 certifying the renewal or the issuance of a new Professional civil liability insurance policy compliant with the Agreement terms within five (5) Working Days before the date of expiry of the previous Professional civil liability insurance policy.
- 10.9 Together with the document indicated in Clause 10.8 of this Agreement and in a term set in Clause 10.8 the Contractor shall submit to the Principal payment evidences certifying payment for the particular insurance.
- 10.10 The Contractor shall maintain the Professional civil liability insurance policy valid throughout the Term of Agreement mentioned in Clause 2.9 of this Agreement and any other additional period if so required by Applicable Law. The Contractor's failure to maintain the Professional civil liability insurance policy valid and/or extend it (as the case may be) and provide it to the Principal shall be considered as a material breach of the Agreement.
- 10.11 The Professional civil liability insurance policy shall cover the Contractor (in case of a group of suppliers each member), its employees and Sub-Contractors Services and additional Services, as the case may be, under this Agreement.
- 10.12 The Professional civil liability insurance policy must provide for no less than twelve (12) month extended reporting period as of the date of completion of all Services by Contractor as confirmed by the Principal by the issuance of the Deed of Acceptance. The extended reporting period shall cover claims arising out of or in relation to an act or omission of the Contractor, its employees and Sub-Contractors occurring during the term of the Agreement, provided that the claim is reported by the Principal within the extended reporting period.
- 10.13 In each and every case of a renewed Professional civil liability insurance policy, the coverage must be continuous and must be inclusive of all periods from the Commencement Date to the issuance of a renewed insurance policy. It is the Contractor's obligation to constantly and proactively monitor the validity of the Professional civil liability insurance policy coverage and carry out all the necessary activities in order to ensure full Professional civil liability insurance policy coverage as per the Agreement's conditions.
- 10.14 The Professional civil liability insurance shall be taken out with an insurance company (re-insurance company), bank or financial institution which is entitled to issue insurance policies, and which has (individually or as a part of a group of companies, or where the company having substantial participation in the respective insurance company (re-insurance company), bank or financial institution) has obtained a required minimum rating of BB+ (or equivalent) in accordance with Standard & Poor's rating, Fitch's rating or Moody's rating. The Principal has the right to request a replacement of the insurer in case the rating falls below the required minimum. The insurer shall be registered within the European Economic Area.
- 10.15 Adjustments to the Insurance. At the Contractor's request and to comply with fair market practice the above terms for to the Professional civil liability insurance may be further adjusted with the Principal's consent, upon the sole discretion of the Principal, to the extent the adjustment would not alter the substance and the objective of the above terms.

Section XI. Performance bond

10.16 *Performance bond.* The Contractor shall provide an unconditional and irrevocable performance (payment) guarantee statement for the due and punctual fulfilment of the Contractors's obligations under the Agreement substantially in the form enclosed as

- 10.17 Annex J: Performance Bond (the "Performance Bond") to the Principal for the amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the total value of the Agreement under Clause 2.8. Within twenty (20) days following the Effective Date, the Contractor shall submit the Performance Bond to the Principal. The Contractor's failure to maintain the Performance Bond in accordance with the terms of the Agreement shall constitute a material breach of the Agreement. The costs of such Performance Bond be at the sole expense of the Contractor.
- 10.18 *Guarantor*. The Performance Bond shall be provided by a bank, insurance company (re-insurance company) or financial institution which is entitled to issue performance (payment) guarantees and is registered within the European Union. The Contractor's Performance Bond shall be provided by a guarantor which (individually or as a part of a group of companies, or where the company having substantial participation in the respective bank, insurance company (re-insurance company) or financial institution) has obtained a required minimum rating of BB+ (or equivelant) in accordance with either Standard & Poor's, Fitch's or Moody's rating agencies.
- 10.19 Term. The Performance Bond shall be valid throughout the term of the Agreement. The Performance Bond shall provide twelve (12) months extended notification period as of the termination or expiration of the Agreement. If the Performance Bond expiration date falls before the termination or expiration of the Agreement, the Contractor shall submit a new Performance Bond substantially in the form enclosed as

10.20 Annex J: Performance **Bond** to the Principal not later than within twenty (20) Working Days before the expiration date of the previous Performance Bond.

Section XII. Force Majeure

- 12.1 Effects of Force Majeure. Subject to the requirements set forth in accordance with Clauses 12.2 and 12.3 of this Agreement, each Party shall be relieved from liability for non-performance of its obligations under this Agreement (other than any obligation to pay) to the extent that the Party is not able to perform such obligations due to a Force Majeure Event.
- 12.2 Action on Becoming Aware of Force Majeure. Each Party shall at all times, following the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event:
 - (a) take reasonable steps to prevent and mitigate the consequences of such an event upon the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, resume performance of its obligations affected by the Force Majeure Event as soon as practicable and use reasonable endeavours in accordance with Good Industry Practice to remedy its failure to perform; and
 - (b) not be relieved from liability under this Agreement to the extent that it is not able to perform, or has not in fact performed, its obligations under this Agreement due to any failure to comply with its obligations under Clause 12.2(a) of this Agreement.
- 12.3 Notification Requirements. Upon the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the affected Party shall notify the other Party as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within ten (10) Working Days of it becoming aware of the relevant Force Majeure Event. Such notification shall give sufficient details to identify the particular event claimed to be a Force Majeure Event and shall contain detailed information relating to the failure to perform (or delay in performing), including the date of occurrence of the Force Majeure Event, the effect of the Force Majeure Event on the ability of the affected Party to perform, the action being taken in accordance with Clause 12.2(a) of this Agreement and an estimate of the period of time required to overcome the Force Majeure Event. The affected Party shall provide the other Party with any further information it receives or becomes aware of which relates to the Force Majeure Event and provide an update on the estimate of the period of time required to overcome its effects.
- 12.4 Notification of Resumed Performance. The affected Party shall notify the other Party as soon as practicable once the performance of its affected obligations can be resumed (performance to continue on the terms existing immediately prior to the occurrence of the Force Majeure Event).
- 12.5 Mitigation of Effects of Force Majeure. As soon as practicable after the notification specified pursuant to Clause 12.3 of this Agreement, the Parties shall use reasonable endeavours to agree appropriate terms or modifications to the Services to mitigate the effects of the Force Majeure Event and to facilitate the continued performance of this Agreement.

Secion XIII. Confidentiality

- 13.1 Confidential Information. "Confidential Information" means, in relation to the Principal and the Beneficiary, all information of a confidential nature relating to the Principal, the Beneficiary and their affiliates which is supplied by the Principal or the Beneficiary (whether before or after the date of this Agreement) to the Contractor, either in writing, orally or in any other form and includes all analyses, compilations, deeds, studies, memoranda and other documents and information which contain or otherwise reflect or are derived from such information, but excludes information which:
 - (a) the Principal confirms in writing is not required to be treated as confidential; or
 - (b) the Contractor can show that the Confidential Information was in its possession or known to it (by being in its use or being recorded in its files or computers or other recording media) prior to receipt from the Principal and was not previously acquired by the Contractor from the Principal under an obligation of confidence; or
 - (c) was developed by or for the Contractor at any time independently of this Agreement.
- 13.2 *Undertakings with Respect to Confidential Information.* Subject to Clauses 13.1 and 13.3, the Contractor shall:

- (a) at all times keep confidential all Confidential Information received by it and shall not disclose such Confidential Information to any other Person; and
- (b) procure that its affiliates and its and their respective officers, employees and agents shall keep confidential and not disclose to any Person any Confidential Information except with the prior written consent of the Party to which such Confidential Information relates.
- 13.3 *Permitted Disclosure.* Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in accordance with Clauses 13.1 and 13.2 of this Agreement, the Contractor shall, without the prior written consent of the Principal, be entitled to disclose Confidential Information:
 - (a) that is reasonably required by the Contractor in the performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement, including the disclosure of any Confidential Information to any employee, contractor, agent, officer, Sub-Contractor (of any tier) or adviser to the extent necessary to enable the Contractor to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
 - (b) to enable a determination to be made pursuant to Section XV. On-the-spot-visits;
 - (c) to its lenders or their professional advisers, any rating agencies, or its insurance advisers but only to the extent reasonably necessary to enable a decision to be taken on the proposal;
 - (d) to the extent required by Applicable Law or pursuant to an order of any court of competent jurisdiction, any parliamentary obligation or the rules of any stock exchange or governmental or regulatory authority having the force of law; or
 - (e) to the extent Confidential Information has become available to the public other than as a result of any breach of an obligation of confidence; provided that any such disclosure is made in good faith.
- 13.4 Obligation of Confidentiality Pertinent to Recipients of Confidential Information. Whenever disclosure is permitted to be made pursuant to Clauses 13.3(a)or (c), the Contractor shall require that the recipient of Confidential Information be subject to the same obligation of confidentiality as that contained in this Agreement.
- 13.5 Certain Obligations on Termination of Agreement. If this Agreement is terminated for whatsoever reason, the Contractor shall:
 - (a) return to the Beneficiary and the Principal all of the Confidential Information then within the possession or control of the Contractor; or
 - (b) destroy such Confidential Information using a secure and confidential method of destruction.
- 13.6 No Press Release by Contractor. Save as required by Applicable Law, the Contractor shall not issue any press release in relation to the matters contemplated under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Principal and Beneficiary (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) as to both the content and the timing of the issue of the press release.
- 13.7 *Right to Publish.* For the avoidance of any doubt, the Principal and Beneficiary shall have the right to publish any of the documents, information or data provided by the Contractor to the Principal during provision of the Services.
- 13.8 Remedies. The Parties acknowledge and agree that a breach of the provisions of this Secion XIII. Confidentiality may cause the owner of Confidential Information to suffer irreparable Damages that could not be adequately remedied by an action at law. Accordingly, the Contractor agrees that the owner of Confidential Information that is disclosed in breach of Clauses 13.2, 13.4 or 13.6 may be entitled to specific performance of those provisions to enjoin a breach or attempted breach thereof and to any other remedy, including, inter alia, damages and injunctive relief, awarded by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section XIV. Right to Audit

14.1 Right to Audit. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement including, the Principal or the Beneficiary itself, a reputable outside independent body or expert engaged and authorized by the Principal or the Beneficiary shall be entitled to inspect and/or audit the Contractor to ensure compliance with the terms of this Agreement, including inspecting and/or auditing:

- (a) the performance of any aspect of the Services; and/or
- (b) any documentation, including all payrolls, accounts of the Contractor and/or other records used in or related to the performance of the Services.
- 14.2 Obligation to Assist. The Contractor shall provide all reasonable assistance to the Principal, the Beneficiary or the independent body authorized by the Principal or the Beneficiary, as the case may be, in carrying out any inspection or audit pursuant to this Section XIV. Right to Audit. The Principal and the Beneficiary shall be responsible for its own costs, or the costs incurred by the outside independent body designated by the Principal or the Beneficiary, incurred toward carrying out such inspection or audit, unless, in the case of any such audit, that audit reveals that the Contractor is not compliant with the terms of this Agreement, in which case the Contractor shall reimburse the Principal or the Beneficiary for all of its additional reasonable costs incurred, provided such noncompliance is material.
- 14.3 Survival of Termination. The rights and obligations set forth in accordance with this Section XIV. Right to Audit shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason and shall continue to apply during ten (10) years following expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever.

Section XV. On-the-spot-visits

- 15.1 Right to perform On-the-spot visits. By submitting a written notice five (5) Working Days in advance, but at the same time reserving the right of an unannounced on-the-spot visit without an advance notice, the Principal and/or the Beneficiary may carry out on-the-spot visits to the sites and premises where the activities implemented within the Agreement are or were carried out.
- 15.2 Personnel involved. On-the-spot visits may be carried out either directly by authorised staff or representatives of the Principal, the Beneficiary or by any other outside body or third party authorised to do so on behalf of the Principal or the Beneficiary. Information provided and collected in the framework of on-the-spot visits shall be treated on confidential basis. The Principal and the Beneficiary shall ensure that any authorised outside body or third party shall be bound by the same confidentiality obligations.
- 15.3 Access to the information. Contractor shall provide to the performer of the on-the-spot visit or any other authorised outside body or third party access to all the information and documents, including information and documents in electronic format, which is requested by the authorised staff of the performer of the on-the-spot visit or any other authorised outside body or third party for the performance of an on-the-spot visit and which relates to the implementation of the Agreement, as well as shall allow the authorised staff of the performer of the on-the-spot visit or any other authorised outside body or third party the copying of the information and documents, with due respect to the confidentiality obligation.
- 15.4 OLAF checks and inspections. By virtue of Council Regulation (Euratom, EC) No 2185/961 of 11 November 1996 concerning on-the-spot checks and inspections carried out by the Commission in order to protect the European Communities' financial interests against fraud and other irregularities and Regulation (EU) No 883/2013 of the European Parliament and the Council of 11 September 2013 concerning investigations conducted by the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF), OLAF may also carry out on-the-spot checks and inspections in accordance with the procedures laid down by European Union law for the protection of the financial interests of the European Union against fraud and other irregularities. Where appropriate, OLAF findings may lead to criminal prosecution under national law.

Section XVI. Governing Law and Resolution of Disputes

- 16.1 *Governing Law.* This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with law of the Republic of Latvia.
- 16.2 Resolution by Amicable Means. The Parties shall first attempt to settle any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement through good faith debate, discussion, and negotiating prior to submitting them to mediation, arbitration, or other legal proceeding.
- 16.3 Venue for Resolution of Disputes. Should the Parties fail to agree by means of amicable negotiations within the time period of two (2) months from the date of serving of the respective written complaint

to the other Party, the Parties shall submit all their disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Republic of Latvia. The Parties hereby represent and warrant that the English language is understandable for all Parties in accordance with Article 8(1)(a) of the Regulation (EC) No 1393/2007 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 November 2007 on the service in the Member States of judicial and extrajudicial documents in civil or commercial matters (service of documents) and repealing Council Regulation (EC) No 1348/2000.

Section XVII. Responsibilities of the Beneficiary

- 17.1 Review of Documentation. The Beneficiary shall examine Documentation as may be submitted by the Principal for review by the Beneficiary toward partial completion of the Services and upon the Principals request shall render opinions pertaining thereto.
- 17.2 *Decisions.* On all matters properly referred to it in writing by the Principal the Beneficiary shall within a reasonable time give its decision in writing so as not to delay the provision of the Services.
- 17.3 Action Upon Becoming Aware of Defects. In the event the Beneficiary observes or otherwise becomes aware of any error, fault, omission, or defect in the Services or non-conformance of any action forming part of the Services, the Beneficiary shall give prompt notice thereof to the Principal.

Section XVIII Miscellaneous provisions

- 18.1 Capacity. Each Party warrants to the other Party that it has full power to enter into and perform this Agreement, and the person signing this Agreement on its behalf has been duly authorized and empowered to enter into such agreement. Each Party further acknowledges that it has read this Agreement, understands it and agrees to be bound by it.
- 18.2 Conflict of Interest, Corruption and Fraud. Notwithstanding any penalties that may be enforced against the Contractor under Applicable Law, or the laws of other jurisdiction(s), the Contractor shall be deemed to have committed a breach under this Agreement and the Principal shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement immediately and without any regard to the provisions of Clause 9.2 of this Agreement, if it is shown that the Contractor is guilty of:
 - (a) offering, giving, receiving or soliciting anything of value with a view to influencing the behaviour or action of anyone, whether a public official or otherwise, directly or indirectly in the selection process or in the conduct of the Agreement; or
 - (b) misrepresentation of facts in order to influence a selection process or the execution of a contract to the detriment of the Principal, including the use of collusive practices intended to stifle or reduce the benefits of free and open competition.
- 18.3 *Notices.* Notices under the Agreement shall be in writing and will take effect from receipt by the Party to which the notice is addressed at the address of the Party set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement. Delivery can be made by hand, by post, or by e-mail.
- 18.4 Damages Covered by Insurance. To the extent Damages are covered by insurance, the Principal, the Beneficiary and the Contractor waive all rights against each other and against the contractors, consultants, agents, and employees of the other for damages, except such rights as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance current as of the date of this Agreement.
- 8.5 Relationship of the Parties. The relationship between the Contractor to the Principal and the Beneficiary under this Agreement is that of independent contractors. The Contractor (or the Contractor's Sub-Contractors) is not an employee of the Principal or the Beneficiary, is not carrying out the regular business of the Principal or the Beneficiary and is not subject to the same employment regulations as are applicable to employees of the Principal or the Beneficiary. Each of the Parties shall be solely and entirely responsible for their own acts and the acts of their employees. No benefits, special considerations, or employer/employee-type provisions are provided by the Principal or the Beneficiary to the Contractor, the Contractor's employees, or the Contractor's consultants, or the employees of such consultants.
- 18.6 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held to be illegal, invalid, void or unenforceable under Applicable Laws, the legality, validity and enforceability of the remainder of this

Agreement shall not be affected, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the whole of this Agreement shall not be affected.

- 18.7 Successors and Assigns. The Principal, the Beneficiary and the Contractor each bind themselves, their successors, legal representatives, and assigns to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, successors, legal representatives and assigns of such other party in respect to all covenants of this Agreement. Neither Party shall assign or transfer its respective interest in the Agreement without written consent of the other Party.
- 18.8 Amendments and Variations. No amendment to or variation of this Agreement shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of all Parties, if not provided otherwise herein. The Agreement can be amended in compliance with the provisions of Article 61 of the Public Procurement Law of the Republic of Latvia.
- 18.9 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, and the Annexes hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes and extinguishes all and any prior drafts, undertakings, representations, warranties and arrangements of any nature, whether in writing or oral, relating to such subject matter.
- 18.10 Execution. This Agreement is prepared and is executed as an electronic document.

.....

Chairperson of the Management Board:

Signature:

Agnis Driksna RB Rail AS

Signed by:

For and on behalf of the Principal:

Signature:

Chairperson of the Management Board:
Agnis Driksna
RB Rail AS

SIA "Intergeo Baltic"

Bank details:

Bank details:

Bank details:

Bank details:

THIS AGREEMENT IS SIGNED WITH A SECURE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIMESTAMP

Annex A: Definitions and common terms

The following capitalized terms shall be ascribed the following meaning for the purposes of the Agreement:

- (a) "Advance Payment", as specified in accordance with Clause 6.4 of this Agreement.
- (b) "Agreement", this Agreement, together with all Annexes thereto.
- (c) "Applicable Law" or "Law", any legislative act, regulation, decree, order, ordinance, statute, treaty, directive, judgment, or other legislative measure. For the avoidance of any doubt, these terms shall include, but not be limited to, any legislative act or directive relevant to public procurement and provision of the Services.
- (d) "Approved Staff", any person or organization listed pursuant to Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff, which is in a contractual relationship with the Contractor to provide a part of the Services.
- (e) "Approved Sub-Contractor", any person or organisation listed pursuant to Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff, which is in a contractual relationship with the Contractor to provide a part of the Services.
- (f) "Beneficiary", the Ministry of Transport of the Republic of Latvia, as further specified in the Preamble of this Agreement.
- (g) "Commencement Date", the date of the Deed of Commencement signed by the Principal.
- (h) "<u>Deed of Commencement</u>", as mentioned under Clause 2.1 of the Agreement and substantially in the form of *Annex K: Deed of Commencement*.
- (i) "Completion Date", as defined in accordance with Clause 7.5 and 7.6 of this Agreement, as appropriate.
- (j) "Confidential Information", as defined in accordance with Clause 13.1 of this Agreement.
- (k) "Contractor", the company SIA "Intergeo Baltic", as further specified in the Preamble of this Agreement, which is employed by the Principal and the Beneficiary as an independent professional contractor to perform the Services.
- (I) "Costs", direct costs reasonably incurred in relation to the Project. Specifically, the Cost shall include any of the following:
 - (i) costs of all materials and supplies forming part of the Services, including transportation and storage expenses (discounts for cash or prompt payments will not reduce these costs);
 - (ii) salaries for personnel in the direct employ of the Contractor in the performance of the Services or relating to the Services;
 - (iii) salaries of the Contractor's employees for the time that they spend in connection with the Services;
 - (iv) payments to sub-contractors for Works relating to the Services;
 - (v) costs of all employee benefits and taxes for items such as social security and other benefits for the labour and employees;
 - (vi) costs, including transportation and maintenance, of equipment and hand tools not owned by workmen employed by the Contractor which are employed or consumed toward the Services;
 - (vii) payments for rental charges for machinery, equipment, facilities and tools used in connection with the Services, and payments for installations, repairs, replacements, dismantling, removal, lubrication, transportation and delivery of those rental items;

- (viii) other transportation costs incurred in connection with the Services;
- (ix) that portion attributable to this Agreement of premiums for insurance that is required by this Agreement (if applicable) or by law to be obtained or maintained by the Contractor;
- (x) sales, use, gross receipts or other taxes or state fees related to the Services, imposed by any governmental authority, to the extent that the Contractor is responsible for such taxes;
- (xi) costs of long-distance telephone calls, telephone service at the site and postage relating to the Services;
- (xii) costs of any data processing services used in connection with the performance of the Work required under this Agreement; and
- (xiii) losses and expenses, not compensated by insurance, sustained by the Contractor in connection with the Works under this Agreement (if applicable), provided they resulted from causes other than the fault or neglect of the Contractor.
- (m) "Corrective Period", as defined in accordance with Clause 9.2 of this Agreement.
- (n) "Cure Period", as defined in accordance with Clause 7.3 of this Agreement.
- (o) "<u>Damages</u>", any cost, claim, damage, demand, loss, expense or liability incurred by the relevant Party or Person.
- (p) "<u>Deed of Acceptance</u>", as defined under Clause 7.4 of the Agreement and substantially in the form of *Annex F: Deed of Acceptance*.
- (q) "<u>Defect</u>", is a part of the Services which is not in accordance with the *Annex B: Technical Specification* and/or the *Annex H: Contractor's Proposal*, and/or the Applicable Law and/or Good Industry Practice.
- (r) "<u>Deliverable</u>", any information, notes, material, drawings (including drawings in 3D model), records, reports, documents and/or other items which the Contractor is required to deliver to the Principal as part of the Services, as further specified pursuant to *Annex C: Schedule of Services*.
- (s) "<u>Documentation</u>", all records, correspondence, and files of the Contractor, its employees, engineers, and consultants pertaining to the Project.
- (t) "Effective Date", the date when the Agreement is signed by the Principal, the Beneficiary and the Contractor as indicated in the Preamble to this Agreement.
- (u) "EUR", and "euro", the official currency of the eurozone, officially known as the euro area.
- (v) "Fee", as specified in accordance with Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule.
- (w) "Force Majeure Event", any of the following events:
 - (i) an act of the public enemy or war (declared or undeclared), threat of war, revolution, riot, insurrection, civil commotion, demonstration or sabotage;
 - (ii) an act of vandalism or accidental damage or destruction of machinery, equipment, track or other infrastructure;
 - (iii) a natural disaster or phenomena, including extreme weather or environmental conditions (such as lightning, earthquake, hurricane, storm, fire, flood, drought or accumulation of snow or ice);
 - (iv) nuclear, chemical or biological contamination, pandemic, guarantine;
 - (v) pressure waves caused by devices travelling at supersonic speeds;
 - (vi) discovery of fossils or antiquities of significant historical importance; and/or

- (vii) strike, lockout or other industrial action other than involving the Contractor, the Principal or the Beneficiary.
- (x) "Good Industry Practice", in relation to the performance of any activity to which this standard is applied, the exercise of that degree of skill, diligence, prudence and foresight as would reasonably be expected to be exercised by a properly qualified and competent person engaged in carrying out Work, Services or services of a similar size, nature, scope, type and complexity, complying with Applicable Law, applicable Standards and published codes of practice.
- (y) "Intellectual Property", all intellectual property rights in any part of the world in respect of any documentation or information provided by the Contractor to the Beneficiary, including any patent, patent application, trade mark, trade mark application, registered design application, utility model, trade name, discovery, invention, process, formula, specification, copyright (including all neighbouring rights, rights in computer software and database and topography rights), know how or unregistered design right.
- (z) "Intellectual Property of the Contractor", all Intellectual Property owned or licensed to the Contractor with a right to sub-license.
- (aa) "Objection Notice", as defined in accordance with Clause 7.5 of this Agreement.
- (bb) "Party" and "Parties", the Principal, the Beneficiary and the Contractor and include their respective successors in title, permitted assigns and permitted transferees.
- (cc) "Person", shall include any natural person, company, corporate body, government, state or agency of a state or any association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) or two or more of the foregoing.
- (dd) "Project", development of a 1435 mm standard gauge railway line in the Rail Baltica (RB) corridor through Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania aimed at eliminating the technical bottleneck due to the gauge differences (1,520 mm vs. the EU standard of 1,435 mm).
- (ee) "Principal", the company RB Rail AS, as further specified in the Preamble of this Agreement.
- (ff) "Railway", a new fast conventional double track electrified railway line according TSI INF P2-F1 criteria and European standard gauge (1435 mm) on the Route.
- (gg) "Representative", an officer, employee or individual appointed by the Contractor and/or the Principal to serve as its authorised representative toward the supply or receipt of the Service and indicated under Annex I: Representatives.
- (hh) "Residence Certificate", a certificate mentioned in Clause 5.2Error! Reference source not found. of this Agreement.
- (ii) "Right of Partial Acceptance", as defined in accordance with Clause 9.6 of this Agreement;
- (jj) "Services", the identification of unexploaded ordnance and geotechnical works as provided under this Agreement and further described under Annex B: Technical Specification;
- (kk) "Services Milestone", the date for delivery of one or more Deliverables, as set out in the Annex B: Technical Specification and Annex C: Schedule of Services;
- (II) "VAT", value added tax.
- (mm) "Variations", a variation to the Agreement or any part thereof mentioned in Clause 2.12.
- (nn) "Working Day", any day (other than Saturday or Sunday) on which banks in the Republic of Latvia are open for conduct of business.
- (oo) "Works", all incidental works, steps and actions performed by the Contractor for the attainment of the objectives of the Services and/or the Project.

Annex B: Technical Specification

for Open competition

"GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATIONS IN THE FORMER MILITARY WAREHOUSE AREA IN CEKULE"

(IDENTIFICATION NO RBR 2021/10)



Riga, 2021

General information and Scope of services

The Contracting authority RB Rail AS (RBR) was established by the Republics of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, via state-owned holding companies, to coordinate the development and Construction of the fast-conventional standard gauge railway line on the North Sea – Baltic TEN-T Core Network Corridor (Rail Baltica II) linking three Baltic states with Poland and the rest of the EU. During the Value engineering stage of the design of Rail Baltica railway line, the track option that is crossing Cekule area was selected.

Cekule site area is wooded area, contaminated with unexploded ordinance (UXO). Contamination of this area started in 1920s when warehouses for Latvian National Armed Forces where located there. During the Second World War, the warehouses where blown up, scattering the munitions all throughout area. After this, 1-2 m of soil was backfilled over this area to make it "safer" for movement of troops and vehicles. The area was subject to heavy military use up until 1994 when USSR army egressed from the location. Previous clean-up activities in this area have uncovered different kinds of buried munitions as well as explosives without casings.

The area (cadastral number 80960060065) is in ownership of Stopini municipality, but the land is maintained by Ministry of Defense.

For the design of Rail Baltica railway line, the geotechnical investigations must be carried out in this area to ensure the design is suitably informed. As this area is heavily contaminated, the Consultant must carry out the geotechnical investigations in conjunction with a certified expert in Unexploded Ordinance removal. This is to ensure the safety for geotechnical drilling crew as well as the safety of future construction operations. The work area shall be cleaned as per the specifications.

In this area, several important structures for the Rail Baltica mainline will be located, therefore the Geotechnical investigations in this area must be carried out according to highest industry standards and practices applying requirements from these Specifications and all applicable EU standards and regulations.

All the necessary rights of access, access roads to works area, necessary tree cuttings and all other permits and licenses are included in the scope of this work.

The proposal will be separated into a Base proposal and an Optional package.



Location of area where Investigations will be carried out:

2. Base proposal work task and description

The proposed works shall include the full scope to deliver the Geotechnical investigations for the rail track and structures, as well as the associated factual reports (In accordance with EN 1997-2 section 6.2). The Cekule area is heavily polluted with unexploded ordnance, Therefore the Contractor must carry out works to detect the UXOs, as well as working with the appropriate authorities to ensure their safe disposal.

2.1 Unexploded ordnance

The location of unexploded ordnance in the area must be carried out initially by surface based methods i.e. magnetic, electromagnetic, or other appropriate geophysical scanning methods. Repeat scanning must be done to ensure the cleaning of the site at different depth levels before and after clearance. Ground scanning shall be carried out by a licensed organization, according to the Latvian legislation (Cabinet regulations Nr. 672). UXO removal by a certified UXO removal specialist and licensed organization according to Cabinet regulations Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārņotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība".

Removal of UXOs must be carried out according to Cabinet regulations Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārņotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība", Law: "On Pollution" and Law on Forests (if tree cutting is foreseen). Receival of all necessary permits and all the preparation works for carrying out this investigation is in the Scope of this contract. The works for site clean-up include, but are not limited to:

- a) Visit and assessment of work area
- b) Investigation on historical records, previously carried out investigations*
- c) Preparation of scanning program, assessment of necessary on-site preparation, based on geotechnical works plan. Alignment of work program with responsible authorities according to Cabinet regulations Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārņotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība"
- d) Preliminary scanning of area
- e) Report to Client on results of preliminary scanning and historical data analysis and alignment of site clean up work program with responsible authorities according to Cabinet regulations Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārņotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība"
- f) Removal and collection of UXOs via liaison with the appropriate authorities for disposal (to be carried out by the Latvian Armed forces) according to process described in Cabinet regulations Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārņotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība"
- g) Cutting of trees, receival of tree- cutting permits only where it is necessary for detection, removal of UXOs or to ensure access for Geotechnical investigation crews. Disposal of cut tress must be agreed with the landowner Stopini municipality and Forestry service
- h) Cleaning and creation of access roads
- i) Report on cleaned area, report amount of removal of UXOs
- j) Clearance report on cleaned areas for Clients further use

All areas that will be cleaned as part of these GI works must be clearly defined and provided to the client in a digital geospatial format. The clearance works must be comprehensive as to ensure that these do not present risk to future investigation or construction activities.

* The Client shall not be responsible for the availability and content of the available historical information

2.2 Geotechnical investigations

Geotechnical investigations must be carried out by certified experts and a licensed organization.

Geodetic survey shall be carried out according to national legislation (LV "Ministru kabineta noteikumi Nr.281", "Noteikumi par Latvijas būvnormatīvu LBN 005-15 "Inženierizpētes noteikumi būvniecībā", LBN 207-15 "Ģeotehniskā projektēšana", EN 1997 parts 1 and 2, and other applicable standards, normative documents and legal acts.

The geotechnical investigations described in this document should be carried out with the purpose of providing information for the new construction, improvement and/or renovation of the project structures defined below.

The results of the investigations and respective laboratory tests shall be compiled in a factual report to enable the geotechnical designers to provide recommendations for the new structures regarding the following aspects:

- Type of foundation
- Depth of foundation
- Foundation construction
- Depth and area of possible soil replacement
- Possible soil improvements
- Load bearing capacity of the soil
- Estimates on expected settlement for defined loads
- Excavation of construction pits
- Groundwater management
- Geotechnical ground risk assessment and risk register
- Areas of unstable or weak soils
- Stability calculations
- Peat or soft soil condition, behaviour and extent

The investigations, field test and laboratory test data will be compiled into a comprehensive factual report (EN1997-2 section 6) and provided to the Client. The quality of the GI and information produced shall be regularly checked by both the Client during the progress of the works. To provide insight into the points outlined above the following base investigations shall be completed:

Investigation points

Point Nr.	Name	Location X	Location Y	Structure type	Investigation point type	Depth
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga		
1	PG_S2_443	524575,00	309612,50	9+520	PG	8
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga		
2	PG_S2_445	524564,80	309592,70	9+520	PG	8
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga	CPT+DPSH	
3	CPT_S2_442	524579,60	309614,20	9+520		≥25*
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga	CPT+DPSH	, and
4	CPT_S2_444	524569,20	309592,70	9+520		≥25*
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga		
5	BH_S2_441	524590,40	309640,20	9+520	BH+CPT or DP	≥35*
				Bridge		
				Junction		
	BIL 60 455 87"		20025055	branch	DII COT DO	o =*
6	BH_S2_455+PZ**	524433,70	309369,60	9+828	BH+CPT or DP	≥35*

				Bridge		
				Junction		
				branch		
7	BH_S2_458	524399,40	309287,60	9+828	BH+CPT or DP	≥35 [*]
	D11_32_430	324399,40	309207,00	Bridge	DI I+CI I OI DI	233
				Junction		
				branch	CPT+DPSH	
8	CDT C2 456	524435,20	309341,80	9+828		≥25*
0	CPT_S2_456	324433,20	309341,00			≥25
				Bridge		
	DLL C3 C10	F24F20 20	200602.10	Nabinurga	DLL, CDT au DD	× 2.⊏*
9	BH_S2_619	524528,20	309692,10	1+590	BH+CPT or DP	≥35*
				Bridge		
				Junction		
				branch		
10	PG_S2_457	524424,00	309325,60	9+828	PG	10
				Track		
11	PG_S2_461	524341,00	309220,80	alignment	PG	6
				Track		
12	PG_S2_615	524613,80	309893,60	alignment	PG	10
				Track		
13	CPT_S2_616	524574,10	309803,10	alignment	CPT	20
		,	·	Bridge		
				Nabinurga		
14	BH S2 622	524511,10	309646,00	1+590	BH+CPT or DP	≥35 [*]
				Bridge	2111 21 1 21 21	
				Nabinurga		
15	BH_S2_673+PZ**	524597,00	309596,10	1+660	BH+CPT or DP	≥35*
- 13	511_32_073112	32 1337 700	303330,10	Bridge	B111 C1 1 01 B1	
				Nabinurga	CPT+DPSH	
16	CPT_S2_617	524536,00	309713,14	1+590	CITIDISII	≥25*
10	C11_52_017	324330,00	302713,14	Track		223
17	DC C2 610	E24E20 10	309711,20	alignment	PG	
17	PG_S2_618	524539,10	309/11,20		PG	8
				Bridge		
10	DC C3 C31	F24F21 CC	200662.20	Nabinurga	DC	
18	PG_S2_621	524521,60	309663,20	1+590	PG	8
				Bridge	CDT - DDC!!	
1.0	CDT CO COO	50454000	200655 75	Nabinurga	CPT+DPSH	*
19	CPT_S2_620	524518,20	309665,70	1+590		≥25*
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga	CPT+DPSH	
20	CPT_S2_671	524608,50	309624,50	1+660		≥25*
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga	CPT+DPSH	
21	CPT_S2_674	524592,10	309577,50	1+660		≥25*
				Track		
22	PG_S2_672	524610,10	309618,50	alignment	PG	8
				Bridge		
				Nabinurga		
23	PG_S2_675	524589,80	309573,70	1+660	PG	8
						,

^{*}These are the minimum target depths, however, the final target depth must meet or exceed the specified depths in order to reach competent stratum or rock. If rock is encountered, termination at shallower depths may be implemented however the rock must be competent and proven continuously for at least 2m i.e. RQD \geq 70%, no voids or gypsum or cohesive units, field strength described in accordance with ISO 14689 and shall be more than 0.6MPa which can also be confirmed by point load tests in the field

^{**} PZ: Standpipe piezometer for groundwater monitoring- return measurements required every two weeks up until the end of the 2022

Meaning of abbreviations:

BH - Core drilling CPT - Cone Penetration tests PG - Percussion gauge drilling DPSH - Dynamic Probing Super Heavy DP - Dynamic Probing

In the event of unforeseen complications on site, some of the investigation points may be relocated. These circumstances must be aligned with the Client to approve the proposed relocations or assess any solution to gain access. Each occasion will be decided separately, with written proposal and clearly provided on a GI plan with the location of the original and the proposed relocated points respectively. In no case can the relocation be further that 15m away from original location of the Investigation point.

The investigation shall provide information that will enable the Clients designer to complete the structural design. The contractor will provide field and laboratory test data, and factual reports. The GI must suitably assess the respective stratigraphic units by determining providing the following information:

For soils:

- Soil classification, including:
 - particle size analysis and consistency limits according to EN 1997-2
 - UIC 719R QS classification
 - Water sensitivity classification according to Design Guidelines (MB_F value)
 - Frost susceptibility according to ISSMFE TC-8 criteria
- Water content, natural (according to EN 1997-2)
- Bulk density (according to EN 1997-2)
- Particle density (according to EN 1997-2)
- Density index (according to EN 1997-2)
- Necessary strength properties (according to EN 1997-2);
- Necessary compressibility and deformation properties (according EN 1997-2)
- Permeability (according to EN 1997-2)
- Shrinking and swelling indices
- If necessary (e.g. for concrete and steel structures), additional chemical characterization shall be evaluated according to EN 1997-2 (organic content, carbonate content, sulfate content, pH value, acidity or alkalinity, chloride content)

For rockmass:

- Classification, identification, and description (according to EN 1997-2)
- Water content, density, and porosity (according to EN 1997-2)
- Necessary strength and deformation properties (according to EN 1997-2)
- If necessary, then also swelling properties (according to EN 1997-2)
- Discontinuities in the rockmass

The geotechnical investigation shall be carried out according to EN 1997 parts 1 and 2, taking into account the recommendations and national legislation (e.g. "Ministru kabineta noteikumi Nr.281", "Noteikumi par Latvijas būvnormatīvu LBN 005-15 "Inženierizpētes noteikumi būvniecībā",). The identification, description and classification of the investigated soil and rock shall be carried out according to the EN ISO 14688 and EN ISO 14689 respectively. Drilling and sampling must be in accordance with ISO 22475 and probing methods should conform to ISO 22476. The Geotechnical laboratory testing should also be aligned with the respective ISO 17892 standard and the data presented shall be aligned with the minimum mandatory reporting requirements.

Contractor shall submit laboratory schedule prior to conducting tests for approval by Client, based on preliminary borehole data.

In some areas, the water level may raise above ground level due to high groundwater level and/or during the heavy precipitation events. This must be taken into account for all considerations, also for

drilling and planning of the works. These include rivers that can overflow their banks due to flooding. For this reason, investigations for groundwater conditions must be made.

Groundwater investigations must provide all important information needed for geotechnical design and construction. Details on groundwater conditions should be described as follows:

- Depth, thickness, extent, and permeability of the aquifers in the subsoil and the fissures in the rock
- Altitude of the free groundwater level or pressure level of aquifers, the evolution over time, and the current groundwater levels with the possible extremes and their annual exceedance probabilities
- Distribution of pore water pressure
- Chemical composition and temperature of groundwater

The test results must be sufficient to answer the following questions:

- Highest water level
- Possible groundwater lowering solutions
- Possible harmful effect of groundwater on excavations or embankments (e.g. hydraulic heave, frost susceptibility, stability)
- Any kind of measures that are necessary to protect the structure (e.g. groundwater drainage)
- Effect of groundwater lowering (including neighbouring areas and structures)
- The capacity of the water, which can occur during the construction
- Chemical interaction between groundwater and structures (e.g. concrete aggressiveness)

All groundwater measurements and sampling must be carried out according to EN ISO 22475-1. Furthermore, the specifications of EN 1997-2 must be observed.

2.2.1. Karst areas

There may be molded limestone, which are usually formed as karst, which can greatly affect the stability and safety of the railway structures. Prior to the investigation, these areas shall be investigated by means of non-destructive test methods (e.g. ground penetrating radar etc.). Depending on the location, these may be formed close to the surface.

If typical appearances related with karst area, such as ponors or sinkholes are to be found in the area, then caution is required when choosing the investigation points. If larger cavities are encountered during drilling or if drilling fluid loss occurs, then this must be reported to the Client immediately. If the drilling method is chosen incorrectly, the drill string may be lost. The Client shall not be responsible for any such loss.

In addition, it should be noted that in areas with limestone, the gypsum layers may exist, which can, if incorrectly handled, lead to long term and large-scale deformations, causing damages to infrastructure and buildings of the railway and neighbouring structures.

2.1.2.5 Environmental requirements

When operating machinery with internal combustion engines, additional measures shall be taken to reliably prevent seepage of oil and fuel into the subsoil.

When encountering contaminated soil, areas or groundwater, the Client shall be notified immediately to determine further measures.

The Consultant shall comply with the relevant local, national and EU environmental protection laws, e.g.:

- Water protection
- Nature conservation
- Nature and landscape protection
- Tree protection

• Soil and national monument protection

The relevant authorities shall be notified prior to the commencement of drilling operations. The notification must be submitted in the contractually agreed and legally prescribed form. Storage areas, repair areas, sanitary facilities, etc. are to be set up without the possibility of contamination of groundwater or open waters.

Customary conditions, such as the transport and use of clean water for the drilling fluid, the collection and disposal of unloaded flushing and pumped water, as well as the disposal of surplus cuttings, shall be considered.

2.4.1 Investigation point identification

The Consultant shall provide unique identification numbers or labels for the investigation points. The unique number or label shall provide information about the type, exact location of the investigation and investigation campaign. The Consultant shall provide a list with all planned and carried out ("asbuilt") investigations. Post investigation information should include the following:

- Investigation location with coordinates
- Absolute height or investigation ground level
- Planned and actual depth with reason for shallow termination (if applicable)
- Date of execution
- Photos from cores or bulk samples with colour chart and depth range for the respective boreholes (NB! It is important to prove borehole depth with photos)
- Photos and records of all UXO artifacts detected and cleared must be recorded (including type and quantity)

2.4.4.1 Exploration methods

During the exploratory work, a qualified driller and rig side geologist shall always be present at each drilling unit. The result shall be presented in the form of borehole logs complying with EN ISO 22475-1 and ISO 14688/9. The equipment used for investigations must be well maintained and newly calibrated.

2.4.4.2 Trial pit

Trial pits can be used to prove the location of pipes and cables or the absence thereof in the investigation area. A trial pit shall have a dimension (length x width x depth) minimum of 2,0 m x 1,0 m x 1,2 m.

For the purpose of the investigations within the Cekule area, the contractors <u>must/ shall</u> hand dig each position prior to drilling via careful hand digging and intermittent metal detection scanning to 1.2m bgl. Relocation may be required in the immediate vicinity if an anomaly is detected within the trial pit. This should be recorded (i.e. depth detected, method of detection and coordinates). The Client must be informed of any relocation as a result of detection of anomalous signals within the trial pit.

2.4.4.3 Percussion gouge drilling (EN ISO 22475-1)

"Percussion gouge drilling" is a small-scale-drilling technique to collect soil samples. For percussion gouge drilling a percussion hammer, extension rods (1 m) and percussion gouges in various diameters (30 mm - 80 mm) and lengths (0,5 - 2,0 m) must be used to assure investigation depths up to 10 m. To take out the percussion-gouge and extensions rods a hydraulic lifter shall be used. The sample quality and quantity collected by percussion gouge drilling is described in Ch.2.4.4.3.

2.4.4.4 Dynamic Probing Heavy (EN ISO 22476-2)

"Dynamic probing heavy" is especially suitable for the qualitative determination of a soil profile together with direct explorations (e.g. drilling and sampling according to EN ISO 22475) or as a relative comparison of other in situ tests.

The cone of steel shall have an apex angle of 90° and an upper cylindrical extension mantle and transition to the extension rods. The rod material/dimension and masses of the drive rids are given in ISO 22476-2 Ch. 4.4 and Table 1.

In general, dynamic probing is performed from the ground surface; the number of blows N10 is recorded continuously. Dynamic probing test equipment shall be set up with the penetrometer vertical, and in such a way that there will be no displacement during testing. The inclination of the driving mechanism and the driving rod projecting from the ground shall not deviate by more than 2 % from the vertical; in difficult ground conditions deviations up to 5 % may be allows provided that they are reported. If this is not the case, the dynamic probing test shall be started a new.

The drive rods and the cone shall be driven vertically and without undue bending of the protruding part of the extension rods above the ground. No load shall be applied to anvil and rods during lifting of the hammer. The penetrometer shall be continuously driven into the ground. The driving rate shall be kept between 15 and 30 blows per minute, except when known to be penetrating sand and gravel, where the driving rate may be increased up to 60 blows per minute. All interruptions longer than 5 minutes shall be recorded.

The rods shall be rotated 1½ turns at least every 1,0 m and the maximum torque required to turn the rods shall be recorded.

For rotating the rods, a torque measuring wrench or an equivalent torque measuring device shall be used. To decrease skin friction, drilling mud or water may be injected through horizontal or upwards holes in the hollow rods near the cone. A casing is sometimes used with the same purpose. The number of blows shall be recorded every 10 cm. The normal range of blows, especially in view of any quantitative interpretation of the test results according to ENV 1997-3, is between N10 = 3 and 50. For specific purposes, these ranges may be exceeded. In cases beyond these ranges, when the penetration resistance is low, e.g. in soft clays, the penetration depth per blow may be recorded. In hard soils or soft rocks, where the penetration resistance is very high, the penetration for a certain number of blows may be recorded

2.4.4.5 Cone Penetration test EN ISO 22476-1

The cone penetration test can be used for interpretation of stratification, classification of soil type and evaluation of engineering soil parameters. The dynamic cone penetration test (CPT/CPTU) consists of pushing a cone penetrometer using a series of push rods into the soil at a constant rate of penetration. During penetration, measurements of cone resistance and sleeve friction are recorded. The piezocone penetration test also includes the measurement of pore pressures around the cone. The properties and dimension of the cone and rods is indicated in EN ISO 22476-1.

2.4.4.6 Standard penetration test (EN ISO 22476-3)

The standard penetration test was developed to provide geotechnical engineering properties for foundation design purposes. The test is carried out within a borehole and the results can be used to determine relative density, bearing capacity, settlement of granular soil and to correlate the approximate strength of cohesive soil.

The basis of the test consists in driving a sampler by dropping a hammer of 63,5 kg mass on to an anvil or drivehead from a height of 760 mm. The number of blows (N) necessary to achieve a penetration of the sampler of 300 mm (after its penetration under gravity and below a seating drive) is the penetration resistance.

The drilling equipment shall be capable of providing a clean hole to ensure that the penetration test is performed on essentially undisturbed soil. The area that is exposed in the base of the borehole prior to testing can influence the results and consequently the borehole diameter shall always be reported. A significant effect on the result can begin to occur when the diameter is 150 mm or more. The steel split barrel sampler, rods and hammer shall have the dimensions and properties indicated in EN ISO 22476-3, Ch. 4.2-4.4.

After the sampler and rods (with hammer at the head) have been lowered to the scheduled bottom of the borehole, a 150 mm initial ram shall be made with the 63.5 kg hammer from a 760 mm drop height and the number of blows N0 registered. The initial ram must be 150 mm or 25 blows,

whichever is reached first. If the initial ram can't reach 150 mm after 25 blows, the penetration depths after 25 blows must be recorded.

The sampler is now be driven into the ground in at least two sections (150 mm each) or four sections (75mm each) by dropping the hammer on the drivehead. The required number of blows for each interval shall be recorded (N_N). The sum of blows required to drive 300mm of penetration (after initial ramming) is termed the "standard penetration resistance" (N_N). In cases where 50 blows are insufficient to advance the sample tube through a 300mm interval the penetration after 50 blows is recorded and the test may be terminated. The additional information in EN ISO 22476-3 should be respected.

2.4.4.7 Drillings

Several structures along the track require core drilling with depths up to at least 25 m.. It is the obligation of the Consultant to be familiar with the entire situation before entering the bidding process.

Structure investigations must be executed as rotary core drilling with single-tube or double-tube core barrel (diameter ≥ 100 mm) for rock and as rotary dry core drilling with single-tube core barrel or hollow-stemmed auger for soils. The sampling technique has to ensure continuous recovery of drill cores. The quality of samples shall be at least grades 1-2 for both soil and rock (EN ISO 1997-2 and 22475-1). Every change in the layer structure and in soil conditions, including the intermediate storage of even low-grade layers, must be detected, and determined with certainty.

The pressure and quantity of the irrigation fluid must have the possibility to be exactly dosed. The speed, drilling progress, drilling pressure and fluid pressure as well as the irrigation fluid quantity must always be observed and adapted to the conditions. The drilling progress and the drilling pressure are necessarily recorded continuously during the drilling process.

For track investigations the drilling and sampling method should be selected as to meet the required quality class of at least 3 for bulk sampling and stratigraphic determination as a minimum (In accordance with EN 1997-2 and ISO 22475-5)

2.5.4 Sampling

2.5.4.1 Quantity

For Percussion gouge drilling mentioned in chapter 2.4.4.3 a continuous recovery of bulk samples is expected. For these methods at least one sample shall be taken for each change in ground conditions as per EN 1997-2 section 3.4.3 (7). Samples shall be placed in containers of relevant type and capacity, which have an airtight cover or seal so that the natural moisture content of the sample can be maintained.

The date of investigation, the unique investigation number or label and the depths of the collected sample shall be recorded on the container.

For core drillings mentioned in chapter 2.4.4.7 involving continuous core sample recovery, the cores shall be extruded from the barrel and placed in core boxes immediately after recovery. Care must be taken to ensure that they lie in their correct sequence. All cores should be protected from dehydration and frost in the core boxes by covering or wrapping them in plastic wrap. Sampling and testing every change in ground conditions shall be implemented as per EN 1997-2 section 3.4.3 (7).

The depths shall be recorded on core boxes at intervals of at least one metre and at the end of each core run, in cm. Additionally, each core box shall be marked externally to show the borehole investigation designation, the depth range and also direction of drilling.

For core losses in rock, the drill cuttings and/or sieve residue shall be collected in a container.

2.5.4.2 Quality

The quality of soil samples is classified according to the degree of disturbance in terms of the soil mechanics parameters and properties, which can be determined according to EN ISO 22475, chapter 6.2.

The quality of samples gathered by means of percussion gauge drilling shall be grade 3 (EN ISO 1997-2 and 22475-1). The quality of samples gathered by means of core drilling methods shall be at least grade 3 in soil and grade 2 in rock (EN ISO 1997-2 and 22475-1).

2.5.4.3 Special samples

To recover special samples from boreholes, the drilling process shall be interrupted. Special samples shall be taken from each stratum containing organic soil or pollutant. For recovering special samples from boreholes, the general information (material/dimension) in EN ISO 1997-2 and 22475-1 chapter 6.4.2 shall be observed.

For groundwater sampling, clean sample bottles with an airtight cover, a pump, water sampler, thermally insulated box for the transport of sample bottles and a thermometer is required. The samples shall be taken from groundwater which has freshly entered to the investigated horizon. Care must be taken to ensure that any stagnant or contaminated water is pumped out prior to sampling. To ensure proper sampling from boreholes, measures shall be taken to prevent the inflow of water from the surface or from other aquifers or ingress of air by the action of drilling tools.

Water can be extracted by submersible pumps, water sampler or by vacuum bottles in cohesive soils (EN ISO 1997-2 and 22475-1 chapter 8.3).

2.5.5.5 Borehole filling and sealing

All boreholes must be filled and compacted after finishing the drilling. Care must be taken to reconstruct at least the condition prior to reconnaissance in terms of stability (e.g., compression) and dimensions (e.g. clean sealing). The associated costs must be included into the contract.

2.5.5.6 Groundwater monitoring

The entire groundwater monitoring must be carried out as described in chapter 2.2. to fulfil the required aims.

If boreholes are used for groundwater pumping wells, then a minimum drill diameter of 300 mm is required to create a pumping well (DN 125). In contrast to pumping well, observation wells serve to measure the GW-level and to take samples. They can be designed as a DN 80. Pumping wells may be required for the execution of groundwater pumping tests in the second phase of the investigation.

2.6: Geophysics

For areas where there is known to be a risk of encountering unexploded ordnance, impact assessments of the study areas can be made following the guidance given in CIRIA C681.

From the surface a grid form survey can be used:

- Magnetometer This locates ferrous features to around 4 m 5 m depth. Responses typical
 of UXOs can be differentiated in size and depth to some degree, though false anomalies can
 be expected. The value of this survey is dependent upon the localized environment being
 clear of ferrous debris, services, etc.
- Electromagnetic (EM) This detects both non-ferrous and ferrous metallic objects. It is typically less sensitive to background noise than the Magnetometer and is slightly more limited in-depth penetration than the Magnetometer but provides additional information on the nature of the materials.
- GPR can be used for location of specific features but is not typically recommended for most sites.

The exact nature of the targets to be located with these techniques can only be determined by excavation. As such, these techniques are used to minimize risk of unforeseen obstructions.

When drilling, techniques such as combined magnetometer CPT cone can be used to minimize risk of encountering UXOs below the depth of resolution of surface techniques.

2.7 Reporting of results

Reporting of all results shall be in hardcopy and digital format. The digital format for text and tables shall be generally acceptable file formats (e.g. docx, xlsx, etc.). The digital format for drawings and map-based results shall be ".dxf/.dwg" format.

The geotechnical investigation report shall be made in accordance with the EN 1997-2, chapter 6, including:

- Purpose and scope of the geotechnical investigation, including a discussion on the extent and scope of the investigation.
- Brief description of the project for which the geotechnical report is being compiled, giving information about the location of the project.
- Dates when field and laboratory investigations were performed.
- Detailed description of methods used for the field work with reference to the accepted standards followed, and with discussion on rationale used to determine type, spacing, frequency and locations of the tests.
- Types of field equipment used.
- Presentation of field observations which were made by the supervising field personnel during the execution of the sub-surface explorations.
- The principal geological and topographical features of the area, with an appraisal of the terrain and hydrogeological conditions.
- A map showing the location by number of each investigation point in a scale of 1:1000. Each location and level of each of the investigation location should be accurately defined by geodetic survey to an accuracy of 10 cm horizontal and 10 cm vertical.
- A description of the investigation methodology, standards and scope of testing including an account of any site constraints encountered.
- A summary of each proposed construction item (earth- or engineering work) showing a minimum of:
 - the types of materials including their extent and variability, all test results the location and extent of any soft/wet areas.
 - the presence and extent of any core stones, weathered rock and "rock excavation materials".
 - the factual excavation characteristics of the various materials.
- Data on fluctuations of ground water table with time in the boreholes during the performance of the fieldwork and in piezometers after completion of the fieldwork.
- Compilation of all individual boring logs including groundwater and executed field test at a vertical scale of 1:100
- Geotechnical cross-sections for each earth or engineering structure at a scale of 1:100 vertical and 1:500 horizontal.
- Geotechnical long sections along the alignment at a scale of 1:1000
- Grouping and presentation of field and test results in appendices and as summary tables
- List of samples (disturbed and undisturbed) with information on
 - Sampling location
 - Sample type
 - o Sampling method
 - Depth of sample (from.. to... [m below ground level and absolute heights])
- List and map in a scale of 1:1000 for the investigations that have to be carried out in the second investigation campaign
- Photo-documentation of field work, which includes photos of every investigation point and observations made during the execution of exploration
- Report outlining the need for each investigation location for the second investigation campaign
- All the test results

3. DELIVERABLES AND SERVICE MILESTONES

All derliverables and related documentation (work program, reports, etc...) under the agreement must be created in Latvian and English.

3.1. Deliverables

The Services shall result in the provision of the following deliverables:

1. Inception report

Contains: Information gathered by visiting site, assessment of historical records, previously carried out investigations, proposed plans of site access, amount of tree cutting, area to be cleaned, work program with time table.

2. Report on removed UXO's

- a. Approval of UXO scanning program with Client and authorities according to Cabinet Regulations Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārnotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība"
- b. Site preparation scanning for UXOs, removal of trees, underbrush
- c. Approval of UXO clean-up program with Client and authorities according to Cabinet Regulations Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārņotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība"
- d. Report on removed UXOs* information prepared in accordance with 2008.gada 25. augustā pieņemtie Ministru kabineta noteikumi Nr.672 "Ar militāra rakstura sprādzien bīstamiem priekšmetiem un nesprāgušu munīciju piesārņotu un potenciāli piesārņotu teritoriju izpētes un piesārņotu teritoriju sanācijas kārtība". Additional cartographic material in LKS-92 co-ordinate system must be prepared showing the location, depth, size of found and removed UXOs

3. Report on Geotechnical Investigation result.

- a. Site investigations under supervision of UXO removal specialist
- b. Laboratory tests
- c. Factual report

If additional UXOs are uncovered during Geotechnical investigations, they must be removed and additional report created.

3.2. Services Milestones

- 1. Inception report 6 weeks after Commencement Date;
- 2. Report on removed UXOs 18 weeks after Commencement Date;
- 3. Report on Geotechnical Investigation results 26 weeks after Commencement Date.

For the Inception report the Services Milestone includes 14 calendar days review by Client and 7 calendar days for comment implementation by Supplier.

For Report on removed UXOs and Report on Geotechnical Investigation results the Services Milestones include 28 calendar days review by the Client and 14 calendar days for comment implementation by Supplier.

Deliverable	No. of	Submission date	Services Milestone
	copies		
Inception report	1 hard	CD + 3 weeks	CD + 6 weeks
	сору		
Report on removed UXOs	1 hard copy	CD + 12 weeks	CD + 18 weeks
Report on Geotechnical Investigation results	1 hard copy	CD + 20 weeks	CD + 26 weeks

4. HEALT AND SAFETY

- 1. The Supplier shall comply with applicable regulations and directives in respect of health and safety, and those obligations specified in the Contract Conditions.
- 2. The Supplier shall take care of the health and safety of all persons entitled to be on the Site and other places (if any) where the Works are being executed, and keep the Site and Works in a proper manner to avoid danger to all persons entitled to be on Site.
- 3. The Supplier will provide written and signed Acknowledgement (in Latvian and English) in accordance with provided example:

Acknowledgement

Hereby "name of legal entity" acknowledge that systems of management of health and safety, fire safety and electric safety are established and implemented at least as per local legislation:

- 1) Types of work to be performed in accordance to this agreement are listed
- 2) Risk assessment for listed types of work is carried out and recorded
- 3) Risk control action plan is designed and signed by the most senior manager in the company. All risk controls have owners and they are aware of their responsibilities. Risk control action plan progress is being reviewed on regular basis
- 4) All "name of legal entity" employees involved in delivery of this contract are trained in risk recognition and risk management of work performed and their knowledge is tested and records available
- 5) Safe work performance, fire safety and electrical safety instructions are designed, signed off by most senior manager of the company and all employees involved in delivery of this contract are trained accordingly
- 6) All employees have undergone mandatory health surveillance

For the work site safety:

- 7) In case of accident, incident or high potential near miss on the work site "name of legal entity" will inform RB Rail project manager or health and safety manager over the phone or e-mail immediately however in 4 hours latest
- 8) "name of legal entity" site manager or project manager will be present at work site at all times as work is in process
- 9) All "name of legal entity" employees will be equipped with necessary personal protective equipment (PPE) at all times being on the work site. Minimum PPE requirements on the work site: a) helmet (EN 397); b) Hi-Viz vest (EN 471) with "name of legal entity" logo; 3) safety boots (S3). In addition to minimum stated PPE list employees must be equipped with PPEs according to risk assessment and risk control requirements stated by employer
- 10) Work site is properly barricaded and safety/warning signs are displayed in order to: a) prevent unauthorized persons to enter worksite; b) enclose dangerous work area where risks to general public may be exposed
- 11) Site manager or project manager will be responsible to remove all dangerous structures should be protected when the site is not occupied, which should include appropriate barriers or covers
- 12) "name of legal entity" health and safety representative runs safety walk and records results at least by-weekly
- 13) RB Rail representatives (health and safety manager, project team members etc) will have access to the site without previous warning at all times to run safety walks

RB Rail has all rights to request and receive evidences to prove all above stated with notice of 1 working day.

5. OPTIONAL SERVICE PACKAGE

In addition to the base proposal (described in chapter 2.) the Contractor will provide an estimate for the optional services. The additional Investigation points will be located in the same vicinity as the

Investigations in the base proposal in relation to the footprint of the track and/ or structures which are without investigation. Cleaning and ensuring of access to the Investigation points is included in the amount of area shown in table below. The Client will have full discretion on awarding of this option and amounts of additional Investigation points, Maximum amount of possible additional points is 20.

When carrying out Investigations of the additional points, all of previously stated requirements in this Technical Specification (including deadlines) will be fulfilled and additional points will be added to the reports described in Specifications

The proposal will be made on per-unit bases according to the investigations scope in table below.

Investigation point type	Depth of investigation (m)	Structure type	Approximate area to be scanned and cleaned for access to Investigation point (m²)	Maximum number of investigations
PG + Probing	8-12	Embankment	3000	20

Annex C: Schedule of Services

1. Service start date: Commencement Date

2. Deliverables:

Deliverable	No of copies	Services Milestone
Inception report	1	$CD^2 + six$ (6) weeks
Report on removed UXO`s	1	CD + eighteen (18) weeks
Report on Geotechnical Investigation	1	CD + twenty-six (26) weeks
result		

- 3. The Principal will accept all Deliverables in accordance with the Clause 7.5 and Clause 7.6 of the Agreement only if they will conform with the quality and other requirements defined under *Annex B: Technical Specification*.
- 4. The Principal may provide comments or remarks to Deliverables after signing of the Deed of Acceptance. In such situations the Contractor shall implement and/or consider mentioned comments and remarks until the submission of subsequent Deliverables.

-

² Commencement Date of the Agreement

Annex D: Fee and Payment Schedule

- 1. <u>Fee</u>. In consideration of provision of the Services, the Beneficiary undertakes to pay the Contractor the total Fee consisting of the amount to be paid for the basic package (mandatory part) as indicated under the *Annex H: Contractor's Proposal* and optional package of the Services as indicated under the *Annex H: Contractor's Proposal* and requested by the Principal following the Clause 2.3 of the Agreement.
- 2. <u>Payment schedule</u>. After the delivery and acceptance of the following Deliverables, the Beneficiary shall pay the following amounts of the Fee:

Deliverable	Services Milestone	Payment, % from the Fee
Report on removed UXO's	CD ³ + eighteen (18) weeks	50%
Report on Geotechnical Investigation result	CD + twenty-six (26) weeks	50%

3. <u>Advance payment</u>. According to the Clause 6.4 of the Agreement the Contractor is entitled to request an Advance Payment in the amount up to 10% (ten percent), excluding VAT, of the total Fee amount which shall be paid in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

-

³ Commencement Date of the Agreement

Annex E: List of approved Sub-Conractors and Staff

A list of all sub-contractors the Contractor anticipates to engage toward provision of the Services:

No	Name of the sub- contractor	Legal representative	Description of the subcontracted task	Amount, EUR (without VAT)	% from the contract price
1.					

A list of staff (key experts) the Contractor anticipates to engage toward provision of the Service:

No	Position of the expert	Name and surname of the expert
1.		

Annex F: Deed of Acceptance

No [INSERT NUMBER]

Date: [INSERT DATE IN THE FORM OF 1 January 2020]

Location: [INSERT LOCATION]

For: [INSERT PRINCIPAL], registration number [•], legal address: [•] (the "Principal")

This Acceptance Deed is issued to the Principal by [•] [INSERT NAME, REGISTRATION NUMBER INSERT REGISTRATION NUMBER, LEGAL ADDRESS] (the "Contractor"), represented by [INSERT NAME OF REPRESENTATIVE ON THE BASIS OF INSERT BASIS OF REPRESENTATION].

Whereas:

- (A) the Principal, the Beneficiary and the Contractor have entered into the Agreement [●];
- (B) one or more Services Milestones have been met and/or Deliverables of the Services have been completed or the Services have been fully completed by the Contractor;
- (C) as stipulated by Clause 7.4 of the Agreement, completion of a Services Milestone/Deliverable shall be evidenced by means of the Contractor issuing a signed Deed of Acceptance;
- (D) as per Clause 7.4 of the Agreement the Principal following the reception of a signed Deed of Acceptance shall review the submitted Deed of Acceptance and either sign the Deed of Acceptance conforming the compliance of the Services rendered or raise objections by issuing an Objection Notice.

The Contractor hereby confirms that following Services Milestone/Deliverable has/have been supplied on [INSERT DATE IN THE FORM OF 1 January 2020], as specified in accordance with the Agreemet, or the Services have been completed in full: [DESCRIBE IN REASONABLE DETAIL THE DELIVERABLE SUPPLIED AND ATTACH THE RESPECTIVE SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION]

By signing this Deed of Acceptance the Principal confirms in accordance with Clauses 7.5(b) of the Agreement its satisfaction with the result of the Deliverable submitted and Services Milestone completed, and the Principal accepts the respective Deliverable in its entirety or partly as specified in Clause 7.5(b) of the Agreement. Additionally, the Principal certifies that all of the necessary authorisations for the acceptance of the Deliverable have been duly received.

Signatures:	
For and on behalf of the Principal	For and on behalf of the Contractor
[•]	[●]

Annex G: Declaration of Contractor

THE DATE INDICATED ON THE TIMESTAMP OF THE SIGNATURE OF THE DOCUMENT.

I, the undersigned duly authorised representative, on behalf of SIA "Intergeo Baltic" undertake:

- 1. To respect the freely-exercised right of workers, without distinction, to organize, further and defend their interests and to bargain collectively, as well as to protect those workers from any action or other form of discrimination related to the exercise of their right to organize, to carry out trade union activities and to bargain collectively;
- Not to use forced or compulsory labour in all its forms, including but not limited to not employ people against their own free will, nor to require people to lodge 'deposits' or identity papers upon commencing employment;
- 3. Not to employ: (a) children below 14 years of age or, if higher than that age, the minimum age of employment permitted by the law of the country or countries where the performance, in whole or in part, of a contract takes place, or the age of the end of compulsory schooling in that country or countries, whichever is higher; and (b) persons under the age of 18 for work that, by its nature or the circumstances in which it is carried out, is likely to harm the health, safety or morals of such persons;
- 4. To ensure equality of opportunity and treatment in respect of employment and occupation without discrimination on grounds of race, colour, sex, religion, political opinion, national extraction or social origin and such other ground as may be recognized under the national law of the country or countries where the performance, in whole or in part, of a contract takes place;
- 5. To ensure the payment of wages in legal fashion, at regular intervals no longer than one month, in full and directly to the workers concerned; to keep an appropriate record of such payments. Deductions from wages will be conducted only under conditions and to the extent prescribed by the applicable law, regulations or collective Contract, and the workers concerned shall be informed of such deductions at the time of each payment. The wages, hours of work and other conditions of work shall be not less favourable than the best conditions prevailing locally (i.e., as contained in: (i) collective Contracts covering a substantial proportion of employers and workers; (ii) arbitration awards; or (iii) applicable laws or regulations), for work of the same character performed in the trade or industry concerned in the area where work is carried out;
- 6. To ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that: (a) the workplaces, machinery, equipment and processes under their control are safe and without risk to health; (b) the chemical, physical and biological substances and agents under their control are without risk to health when the appropriate measures of protection are taken; and (c) where necessary, adequate protective clothing and protective equipment are provided to prevent, so far as is reasonably practicable, risk of accidents or of adverse effects to health;
- 7. To support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights and not to become complicit in human rights abuses;
- 8. To create and maintain an environment that treats all employees with dignity and respect and will not use any threats of violence, sexual exploitation or abuse, verbal or psychological harassment or abuse. No harsh or inhumane treatment coercion or corporal punishment of any kind is tolerated, nor is there to be the threat of any such treatment;
- 9. To have an effective environmental policy and to comply with existing legislation and regulations regarding the protection of the environment; wherever possible support a precautionary approach to environmental matters, undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility and encourage the diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies implementing sound life-cycle practices;
- 10. To identify and manage chemical and other materials posing a hazard if released to the environment to ensure their safe handling, movement, storage, recycling or reuse and disposal;

- 11. To monitor, control and treat as required prior to discharge or disposal wastewater and solid waste generated from operations, industrial processes and sanitation facilities;
- 12. To characterize, monitor, control and treat as required prior to discharge or disposal air emissions of volatile organic chemicals, aerosols, corrosives, particulates, ozone depleting chemicals and combustion by-products generated from operations;
- 13. To reduce or eliminate at the source or by practices, such as modifying production, maintenance and facility processes, materials substitution, conservation, recycling and reusing materials, waste of all types, including water and energy;
- 14. To adhere to the highest standards of moral and ethical conduct, to respect local laws and not engage in any form of corrupt practices, including but not limited to extortion, fraud, or bribery;
- 15. To disclose (a) any situation that may appear as a conflict of interest, such as but not limited to: where a Contractor or an undertaking related to the Contractor has advised a Beneficiary or Implementing Body or has otherwise been involved in the preparation of the procurement procedure; and (b) if any Beneficiaries' or Implementing Bodies' official, professional under contract with Beneficiary or Implementing Body or sub-contractor may have a direct or indirect interest of any kind in the Contractor's business or any kind of economic ties with the Contractor;
- 16. Not to offer any benefit such as free goods or services, employment or sales opportunity to a Beneficiary's and Implementing Body's staff member in order to facilitate the Contractors' business with Beneficiaries or Implementing Bodies;
- 17. Within a period set in the applicable national legislation following separation from service or award of a contract, as the case may be, to refrain from offering employment to any Beneficiaries' and Implementing Bodies' staff in service and former Beneficiaries' and Implementing Bodies' staff members who participated in the procurement process and to whom a legal restriction to receive material benefits from or be employed by a Contractor which participated in a procurement procedure or restrictions with similar effect applies;
- 18. To promote the adoption of the principles set forth in this Contractor's Declaration by my potential business partners and promote the implementation of the principles set forth in this document towards own Contractors;
- 19. Not procure goods, works and services from other Contractors:
- a. Who, or its member of the Management Board or the Supervisory Board or procurator of such Contractor, or a person having the right to represent such Contractor in activities related to a subsidiary, has been found guilty in any of the following criminal offences by a such punishment prescription of prosecutor or a judgement of a court that has entered into effect and is non-disputable and not subject to appeal:
- i. bribetaking, bribery, bribe misappropriation, intermediation in bribery, taking of prohibited benefit or commercial bribing:
- ii. fraud, misappropriation or laundering;
- iii. evading payment of taxes and payments equivalent thereto,
- iv. terrorism, financing of terrorism, invitation to terrorism, terrorism threats or recruiting and training of a person for performance of terror acts;
- b. who, by such a decision of a competent authority or a judgment of a court which has entered into effect and has become non-disputable and not subject to appeal, has been found guilty of an infringement of employment rights which means:
- i. employment of such one or more citizens or nationals of countries, which are not citizens or nationals of the European Union Member States, if they reside in the territory of the European Union Member States illegally;
- ii. employment of one person without entering into a written employment contract, not submitting an informative declaration regarding employees in respect of such person within

- a time period laid down in the laws and regulations, which is to be submitted regarding persons who commence work;
- c. who, by such a decision of a competent authority or a judgment of a court which has entered into effect and has become non-disputable and not subject to appeal, has been found guilty of infringement of competition rights manifested as a vertical Contract aimed at restricting the opportunity of a purchaser to determine the resale price, or horizontal cartel Contract, except for the case when the relevant authority, upon determining infringement of competition rights, has released the candidate or tenderer from a fine or reduced fine within the framework of the co-operation leniency programme;
- d. whose insolvency proceedings have been announced (except the case where a bailout or similar set of measures is applied within insolvency proceedings oriented towards prevention of possible bankruptcy and restoration of solvency of the debtor, in which case I shall evaluate the possibility of such Contractor to participate in the tender), economic activity of such Contractor has been suspended or discontinued, proceedings regarding bankruptcy of such Contractor have been initiated or such Contractor will be liquidated;
- e. who has tax debts in the country where the procurement is organised or a country where such Contractor is registered or permanently residing, including debts of State social insurance contributions, in total exceeding an amount which is common threshold in public procurements in the respective country.

THIS AGREEMENT IS SIGNED WITH A SECURE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIMESTAMP

Annex H: Contractor's Proposal

Annex No 1 to open competition "Identification of unexploded ordnance and geotechnical works in former Cekule military area" regulation, ID No RBR 2021/10

Annex I: Representatives

Name and Surname of the contact persons	Phone number and e-mail address

Annex J: Performance Bond

To: the Beneficiary - Ministry of Transport of Republic of Latvia, registration number: 90000088687, registered address: Gogoļa iela 3, Riga, LV-1743, which for the purposes of the Contract implementation is represented by RB Rail AS, a joint-stock company duly incorporated and operating under the laws of Republic of Latvia, registration number: 40103845025, registered address: Krišjāņa Valdemāra iela 8-7, Riga, LV-1010.

<u>Guarantor</u>: [identify bank or insurance company (re-insurance company) or financial institution, by specifying its full name and legal form, registration number, legal address, e-mail]

Applicant: [specify Contractor's full name and legal form, registration number, legal address]

Addressee: RB Rail AS.

<u>Date</u>: [insert date]

<u>Underlying Relationship</u>: the Contract No [__] on AGREEMENT FOR IDENTIFICATION OF UNEXPLODED ORDNANCE AND GEOTECHNICAL WORKS IN FORMER CEKULE MILITARY AREA, executed between the Applicant, the Beneficiary and RB RAIL AS on [insert the date of the Contract] (hereinafter the Contract) and obligations of the Applicant to perform the Contract in accordance with the terms of the Contract.

duarantee Annount and Currency, ILON	Guarantee Amount and c	:urrency: [EUR	(euros)]
--------------------------------------	------------------------	----------------	-----------

<u>Document in support of the demand for payment</u>: Original of the statement issued by RB Rail AS that shall be presented as follows:

- Paper form (written) demand signed by an authorised representative of the Beneficiary which shall be sent by courier to the legal address of the Guarantor with a copy to the legal address of the Applicant; or
- Electronical form (scanned and signed ".PDF" file, whereas the file may be in a ASIC-E or similar container, to the e-mail of the Guarantor as indicated above by using safe electronic signature with a time stamp; the document shall be signed by an authorised representative of the Beneficiary; or
- Authenticated SWIFT message using SWIFT submission system (not necessarily, but can be combined with scanned and signed ".PDF" file, whereas the file may be in a ASIC-E or similar container and secured by using safe electronic signature with a time stamp; the document shall be signed by an authorised representative of the Beneficiary.

<u>Language of all required documents</u>: the English language.

Expiry: [insert date].

As Guarantor, we hereby irrevocably and unconditionally undertake to pay the Beneficiary any amount up to the Guarantee Amount upon presentation of the first Beneficiary's complying demand, in the form of presentation indicated above and supported (document in support of the demand for payment), in any event, by the Beneficiary's statement, whether in demand itself or in a separate signed document accompanying or identifying the demands, indicating in what amount the Applicant is in breach of its obligations under the Underlying Relationship. Any demand under this Guarantee must be received by us on or before Expiry indicated above.

We further agree that no change or addition to or other modification of the terms of the Contract shall in any way release us from any liability under this Guarantee, and we hereby waive notice of any such change, addition or modification. We hereby also waive any options, possibilities or rights to reject or suspend the Beneficiary's demand if it is issued in accordance with this document. The Beneficiary shall not be obliged to justify its demand. The Beneficiary is entitled to transfer (assign) the Guarantee (the rights arising therefrom) to RB Rail AS. The Guarantor has been notified that the Beneficiary may require the Applicant to extend the Guarantee.

Applicable law and Disputes: THIS GUARANTEE IS SUBJECT TO THE UNIFORM RULES FOR DEMAND GUARANTEES (URDG) 2010 REVISION, ICC PUBLICATION NO 758 (ICC RULES). Article 33 of the ICC Rules does not apply in case any or all rights under this Guarantee or the Guarantee as a whole are assigned, pledged or transferred. Matters which are not covered by the above mentioned ICC Rules shall be decided according to Latvian law. For avoidance of doubt, Articles 1692 to 1715 of the Civil Law of Latvia do not apply to this Guarantee, as this Guarantee does not constitute a surety (in Latvian – galvojums) and instead this Guarantee constitutes a separate and independent (not accessory) obligation of the Guarantor. Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Guarantee shall be settled by the competent court of the Republic of Latvia.

This Guarantee cannot be changed or terminated without the prior written consent of the Beneficiary.

This Guarantee is executed in two originals – the Beneficiary and the Guarantor shall each receive one original.

SIGNATURE AND SEAL OF THE GUARANTOR

ate
ame of bank or insurance company (re-insurance company) or financial institution
ddress

Annex K: Deed of Commencement

No [INSERT NUMBER] Date: [INSERT DATE]

Location: [INSERT LOCATION]

[INSERT CONTRACTOR], registration number [•], legal address: [•] (the "Contractor") For:

This Deed of Commencement is issued to the Contractor by RB Rail AS (the "Principal"), represented by [INSERT NAME OF REPRESENTATIVE ON THE BASIS OF INSERT BASIS OF REPRESENTATION].

Whereas:

- (A) the Principal and the Contractor have entered into the Agreement [●] (the "Agreement");
- (B) in accordance with Clause 2.1 of the Agreement the Contractor shall submit to the principal the insurance policy or the certificate in compliance with Clause 10.8 and Performance Bond in compliance with Clause 10.16;
- (C) as stipulated by Clause 2.1 of the Agreement, the receipt and compliance of the insurance policy or the certificate and the Performance Bond shall be evidenced by the Principal issuing a signed Deed of Commencement.

The Contractor hereby confirms that insurance policy or certificate and the Performance Bo submitted by the Contractor conforms with the requirements of the Agreement and the Contract shall be entitled to commence the provision of the Services following the terms of the Agreement
For and on behalf of the Principal